



ESC Expert consensus document

# Expert consensus document on $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor blockers

# The Task Force on Beta-Blockers of the European Society of Cardiology

Task Force Members, José López-Sendón, Chairperson\* (Spain), Karl Swedberg (Sweden), John McMurray (UK), Juan Tamargo (Spain), Aldo P. Maggioni (Italy), Henry Dargie (UK), Michal Tendera (Poland), Finn Waagstein (Sweden), Jan Kjekshus (Norway), Philippe Lechat (France), Christian Torp-Pedersen (Denmark)

ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG), Silvia G. Priori (Chairperson) (Italy), Maria Angeles Alonso García (Spain), Jean-Jacques Blanc (France), Andrzej Budaj (Poland), Martin Cowie (UK), Veronica Dean (France), Jaap Deckers (The Netherlands), Enrique Fernandez Burgos (Spain), John Lekakis (Greece), Bertil Lindahl (Sweden), Gianfranco Mazzotta (Italy), Keith McGregor (France), João Morais (Portugal), Ali Oto (Turkey), Otto A. Smiseth (Norway)

Document Reviewers, Maria Angeles Alonso García (CPG Review Coordinator) (Spain); Diego Ardissino (Italy), Cristina Avendano (Spain), Carina Blomström-Lundqvist (Sweden), Denis Clément (Belgium), Helmut Drexler (Germany), Roberto Ferrari (Italy), Keith A. Fox (UK), Desmond Julian (UK), Peter Kearney (Ireland), Werner Klein (Austria), Lars Köber (Denmark), Giuseppe Mancia (Italy), Markku Nieminen (Finland), Witold Ruzyllo (Poland), Maarten Simoons (The Netherlands), Kristian Thygesen (Denmark), Gianni Tognoni (Italy), Isabella Tritto (Italy), Lars Wallentin (Sweden)

# Table of contents

Preamble	1342
Classes of recommendations	1342
Levels of evidence	1342
Introduction	1342
Pharmacology	1343
Definition	1343
Classification of $\beta$ -blockers	1343
Pharmacokinetic properties	1343
Lipophilic drugs	1344
Hydrophilic drugs	1344
Balanced clearance drugs	1344
	1344
Adverse events	1345
Cardiovascular	1345
Metabolic	1345
Pulmonary	1345

\* Corresponding author. Chairperson: José López-Sendón, Cardiology, Area 1200, Hospital Universitario Gregorio Marañon, Doctor Esquerdo 46, 28007 Madrid. Spain. Tel.: +34-91-586-8295; fax: +34-91-586-6672. *E-mail address:* jlsendon@terra.es (J. López-Sendón).

Contraindications ..... 1345 Drug interactions ..... 1345 Dosing of  $\beta$ -blockers ..... 1346 Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) . . . . . . . . 1346 Secondary prevention after Non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary Chronic, stable ischaemic heart disease . . . . 1348 Heart failure and preserved systolic function 1351 Tachycardias in WPW syndrome ..... 1353 Ventricular arrhythmias ..... 1353 Prevention of sudden cardiac death. . . . . . . 1353 

0195-668X/\$ - see front matter © 2004 The European Society of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ehj.2004.06.002

Heart failure	1354
Dilated cardiomyopathy	1354
Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy	1354
Mitral valve prolapse	1354
Myocardial bridging	1355
Long QT syndrome (LQTS)	1355
Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular	
tachycardia	1355
SCD in the normal heart	1355
Other situations	1355
Hypertension	1355
Aortic dissection	1356
Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy	1356
Prophylactic use in non-cardiac surgery	1356
Vasovagal syncope	1357
$\beta$ -Blockers during pregnancy	1357
References	1357

# Preamble

Guidelines and Expert Consensus documents aim to present all the relevant evidence on a particular issue in order to help physicians to weigh the benefits and risks of a particular diagnostic or therapeutic procedure. They should be helpful in everyday clinical decisionmaking.

A great number of Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents have been issued in recent years by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and by different organisations and other related societies. This profusion can put at stake the authority and validity of guidelines, which can only be guaranteed if they have been developed by an unquestionable decision-making process. This is one of the reasons why the ESC and others have issued recommendations for formulating and issuing Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents.

In spite of the fact that standards for issuing good quality Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents are well defined, recent surveys of Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents published in peer-reviewed journals between 1985 and 1998 have shown that methodological standards were not complied with in the vast majority of cases. It is therefore of great importance that guidelines and recommendations are presented in formats that are easily interpreted. Subsequently, their implementation programmes must also be well conducted.

The ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG) supervises and coordinates the preparation of new Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents produced by Task Forces, expert groups or consensus panels. The chosen experts in these writing panels are asked to provide disclosure statements of all relationships they may have which might be perceived as real or potential conflicts of interest. These disclosure forms are kept on file at the European Heart House, headquarters of the ESC. The Committee is also responsible for the endorsement of these Guidelines and Expert Consensus Documents or statements.

The Task Force has classified and ranked the usefulness or efficacy of the recommended procedure and/or treatment and the Level of Evidence as indicated in the tables below:

# **Classes of Recommendations**

Class I:	Evidence and/or general agreement that a given procedure/treatment is beneficial, useful and effective;
Class II:	Conflicting evidence and/or a divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of the procedure/treatment;
Class IIa:	Weight of evidence/opinion is in favour of usefulness/efficacy;
Class IIb:	Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion;
Class III*:	Evidence or general agreement that the treatment is not useful/effective and in some cases may be harmful.
*Use of Clas	s III is discouraged by the ESC

\*Use of Class III is discouraged by the ESC.

# Levels of Evidence

Level of Evidence A	Data derived from multiple ran- domised clinical trials or meta- analyses
Level of Evidence B	Data derived from a single ran- domised clinical trial or non-
Level of Evidence C	randomised studies Consensus of opinion of the ex- perts and/or small studies

# Introduction

 $\beta$ -Blocker therapy plays a major role in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases. For many years  $\beta$ -blockers were used for their antiischaemic, antiarryhthmic and anti-hypertensive properties. More recently, the benefit of adrenoceptor blockade was also established in patients with heart failure. The aim of this document is to review the rationale and clinical evidence for the use of  $\beta$ -adrenergic blockers in patients with cardiovascular disease.

The members for the Beta-blockers in Cardiovascular Disease Task Force were nominated by the Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG) of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). A specific literature search was carried out for original articles in peer review journals included in Medline. In addition, the ESC as well as the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology guidelines with reference to the use of  $\beta$ -blockers were carefully reviewed. Most of the previously made recommendations were maintained; some were updated and a few are new according to recent evidence in the literature.

Using recommendations which are graded provides a simple method for guidance. Levels of recommendation are derived from clinical trials, conducted in selected groups of patients that may not be representative of broader populations; in fact, patients with contraindications are excluded from clinical trials. Besides, the same strength of evidence may reflect different clinical benefit: mortality, morbidity, clinical symptoms or combined end-points; large or small benefit albeit statistically significant; easily obtained or only observed, or lost, after several years of treatment. Finally, in individual cases the recommended therapy may only be a treatment option and other alternatives may be equally acceptable or even more appropriate. An effort was made to include this information in a relatively short document.

The document prepared by the task force was circulated among a review board appointed by the ESC and approved by the Committee for Practice Guidelines of the ESC. The final document was sent to the European Heart Journal for a formal peer review.

This consensus document represents the views of the ESC and was arrived at after careful consideration of the available evidence. Health professionals are expected to take them fully into account when exercising their clinical judgement. This consensus document does not, however, override the individual responsibility of health professionals to make appropriate decisions in the circumstances of the individual patient, in consultation with that patient, and where appropriate and necessary the patient's guardian or carer.

## Pharmacology

#### Definition

 $\beta$ -Adrenergic antagonists ( $\beta$ -blockers) bind selectively to the  $\beta$ -adrenoceptors producing a competitive and re-

versible antagonism of the effects of  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimuli on various organs (Table 1). Their pharmacological effects can be explained from the knowledge of the responses elicited by these receptors in the various tissues and the activity of the sympathetic tone.<sup>1,2</sup> Thus,  $\beta$ -blockers have relatively little effect on heart rate and contractility in an individual at rest but slow heart rate and decrease cardiac contractility when the sympathetic nervous system is activated, i.e., during exercise or stress.

# Classification of β-blockers

 $\beta$ -Blockers can be broadly classified into (a) non-selective, those producing a competitive blockade of both  $\beta_1$ - and  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptors and (b) those with much higher affinity for the  $\beta_1$  than for the  $\beta_2$  receptors usually called  $\beta_1$ -selective (Table 2).<sup>1–4</sup> Selectivity is, however, dosedependent and decreases or disappears when larger doses are used. Paradoxically, some  $\beta$ -blockers can exert a weak agonist response (intrinsic sympathomimetic activity (ISA), and can stimulate and block the  $\beta\text{-adrenoceptor.}$ Several  $\beta$ -blockers have peripheral vasodilator activity mediated via  $\alpha_1$ -adrenoceptor blockade (carvedilol, labetalol),  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptor agonism (celiprolol) or via mechanisms independent of the adrenoceptor blockade (bucindolol, nebivolol). In addition,  $\beta$ -blockers can be classified as lipophilic or hydrophilic.

#### Pharmacokinetic properties

There are important pharmacokinetic differences among  $\beta$ -blockers<sup>1-4</sup> (Table 1).

Tissue	Receptor	Effect
Heart		
SA node	β1, β2	Increase in heart rate
AV node	β1, β2	Increase in conduction velocity
Atria	β1, β2	Increase in contractility
Ventricles	β1, β2	Increase in contractility, conduction velocity and automaticity of idioventricular pacemakers
Arteries	β2	Vasodilation
Veins	$\beta_2$	Vasodilation
Skeletal muscle	β <sub>2</sub>	Vasodilation, increased contractility
		Glycogenolysis, K <sup>+</sup> uptake
Liver	β2	Glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis
Pancreas (β cells)	β <sub>2</sub>	Insulin and glucagon secretion
Fat cells	β <sub>1</sub>	Lipolysis
Bronchi	β <sub>2</sub>	Bronchodilation
Kidney	β <sub>1</sub>	Renin release
Gallbladder and ducts	β <sub>2</sub>	Relaxation
Urinary bladder detrusor	β <sub>2</sub>	Relaxation
Uterus	β <sub>2</sub>	Relaxation
Gastrointestinal	β <sub>2</sub>	Relaxation
Nerve terminals	β <sub>2</sub>	Promotes noradrenaline release
Parathyroid glands	β1, β2	Parathormone secretion
Thyroid gland	β <sub>2</sub>	$T4 \rightarrow T3$ conversion

SA: Sino-Atrial: AV: Auriculo-Ventricular.

β-blocker	ISA	Lipid solubility	Peripheral vasodilation	i.v.	Average daily oral dose
I. Non-selective	$(\beta_1 + \beta_2)$ adre	energic antagonists			
Carteolol	+	Low			2.5–20 mg once/twice daily
Nadolol	0	Low			40-320 mg once daily
Penbutolol	+	Moderate			20—80 mg once/twice daily
Pindolol	++	High			10-40 mg twice daily
Propranolol	0	High		+	40—180 mg twice daily
Sotalol	0	Low		+	
Timolol	0	High			5—40 mg twice daily
II. Selective $\beta_1$ -a	drenergic an	tagonists			
Acebutolol	+	Moderate			200—800 mg once/twice daily
Atenolol	0	Low		+	25—100 mg once daily
Betaxolol	0	Moderate			5—20 mg once daily
Bisoprolol	0	Moderate			2.5—10 mg once daily
Celiprolol	+	Moderate	+		200-600 mg once daily
Esmolol	0	Low		+	Only i.v.
Metoprolol	0	High		+	50-100 mg once/twice daily
Nevibolol	0	-	+		2.5–5 mg once daily
III. $\alpha_1$ - and $\beta$ -adr	energic anta	gonists			
Bucindolol	+	Moderate	+		25—100 mg twice daily
Carvedilol*	0	Moderate	+		3.125–50 mg twice daily
Labetalol	+	Low	+		200-800 mg twice daily

**Table 2** Pharmacological classification of commonly used  $\beta$ -adrenergic antagonists ( $\beta$ -blockers)

ISA: Intrinsic Sympathomimetic Activity; i.v.: Intravenous Administration possible; AMI: Acute Myocardial Infarction; CHF: Chronic Heart Failure. Included only  $\beta$ -blockers with demonstrated efficacy on clinical outcomes and supporting the guidelines recommendations.

In some studies there was lack of evidence for peripheral  $\alpha_1$ -adrenoceptor blockade during long-term treatment of heart failure with carvedilol.<sup>229</sup>

#### Lipophilic drugs

Lipophilic drugs (*metoprolol*, *propranolol*, *timolol*) are rapidly and completely absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract but are extensively metabolised in the gut wall and in the liver (first pass effect), so that their oral bioavailability is low (10-30%). These drugs may accumulate in patients with reduced hepatic blood flow (i.e., elderly, congestive heart failure, liver cirrhosis). Lipophilic drugs present short elimination half-lives (1-5 h) and they easily enter the central nervous system (CNS), which may account for a greater incidence of central side-effects.

#### Hydrophilic drugs

Hydrophilic drugs (*atenolol*, *esmolol*) are absorbed incompletely from the gastrointestinal tract and are excreted unchanged or as active metabolites by the kidney. They have longer half-lives (6–24 h), and do not interact with other liver-metabolised drugs. They barely cross the blood—brain barrier. Elimination half-life is increased when glomerular filtration rate is reduced (i.e., elderly, renal insufficiency).

#### Balanced clearance drugs

*Bisoprolol* has a low first-pass metabolism, enters the CNS and is excreted in equal proportion by hepatic and renal routes. *Carvedilol* has a low oral bioavailability due to an extensive first pass effect. It binds to plasma proteins and is eliminated by hepatic metabolism.<sup>4</sup> *Esmolol* is an ultra short-acting drug. It is administered i.v. and rapidly hydrolysed by red cell esterases (half-life 9 min).<sup>5</sup>

#### Mechanism of action

The mechanisms of action are diverse, not yet completely understood and probably with important differences between agents. The prevention of the cardiotoxic effects of catecholamines plays a central role.<sup>6-8</sup> The following mechanisms are also considered: (a) Antihypertensive action. Associated with a decrease in cardiac output, inhibition of the release of renin and production of angiotensin II, blockade of presynaptic α-adrenoceptors that increase the release of norepinephrine from sympathetic nerve terminals and decrease of central vasomotor activity.<sup>1–9</sup> (b) Anti-ischaemic action β-blockers decrease myocardial oxygen demand by reducing heart rate, cardiac contractility, and systolic blood pressure.<sup>10</sup> In addition, prolongation of diastole caused by a reduction in heart rate may increase myocardial perfusion. (c) Reduction of renin release and angiotensin II and aldosterone production by blocking of  $\beta_1$ -adrenoceptors on renal juxtaglomerular cells. (d) Improvement of left ventricular structure and function, decreasing ventricular size and increasing ejection fraction.<sup>6-8</sup> β-blockers may improve cardiac function because they: (i) reduce heart rate, prolong diastolic filling and coronary diastolic perfusion time, (ii) decrease myocardial oxygen demands, (iii) improve myocardial energetics by inhibiting catecholamine-induced release of free fatty acids from adipose tissue, (iv) upregulate β-adrenergic receptors and (v) reduce myocardial oxidative stress.<sup>1,11,12</sup> (e) The antiarrhythmic effect, the result of direct cardiac electrophysiological effects

(reduced heart rate, decreased spontaneous firing of ectopic pacemakers, slowed conduction and increased refractory period of AV node), reduces the sympathetic drive and myocardial ischaemia, improves baroreflex function and prevents catecholamine-induced hypokalemia.<sup>13</sup> Other mechanisms include: inhibition of cardiac apoptosis mediated via the activation of the  $\beta$ -adrenergic pathway,<sup>14</sup> inhibition of platelet aggregation,<sup>1</sup> reduction of the mechanical stress imposed on the plague, preventing plaque rupture, resensitization of the  $\beta$ -adrenergic pathway and changes in myocardial gene expression, i.e., an increase in sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase, mRNA and  $\alpha$ -myosin heavy chain mRNA and a decrease in  $\beta$ -myosin heavy chain mRNA levels.<sup>15</sup> Finally, some  $\beta$ -blockers exhibit antioxidant properties and inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation.<sup>4</sup>

#### Adverse events

In general,  $\beta$ -adrenergic inhibitors are well tolerated, but serious side-effects may occur, especially when these agents are used in large doses.<sup>1,2</sup>

#### Cardiovascular

 $\beta$ -blockers reduce heart rate, decrease the firing rate of cardiac ectopic pacemakers and slow conduction and increase the refractory period of the AV node. Thus, they may cause extreme bradycardia and AV block. These effects are seen mainly in patients with impaired sinus node function and AV-node conduction and are rare when  $\beta$ -blockers are given intravenously to patients with acute myocardial infarction<sup>16</sup> or orally in patients with chronic heart failure.<sup>17</sup> β-blockers decrease tissue blood flow due to blockade of vascular  $\beta_2$ -receptors and unopposed stimulation of vascular  $\alpha$ -adrenoceptors. As a result, they can produce cold extremities and Raynaud's phenomenon and worsen the symptoms in patients with severe peripheral vascular disease.<sup>4</sup> However, the clinical benefits of  $\beta$ -adrenergic antagonists in patients with peripheral vascular disease and coronary artery disease may be very important.<sup>18,19</sup> These side-effects are less pronounced with drugs exhibiting vasodilator effects and with selective  $\beta_1$  agents.  $\beta$ -blockers can also increase the coronary vasomotor tone, in part because of unopposed  $\alpha$ -adrenergic mediated vasoconstriction.

#### Metabolic

In patients with insulin-dependent type I diabetes nonselective  $\beta$ -blockers mask some of the warning symptoms of hypoglycaemia (tremor, tachycardia); the other signs of hypoglycaemia (e.g., sweating) are maintained. A selective  $\beta$ -blocker should therefore be preferred at least in insulin dependent patients. In any case, the clinical benefit of treatment with  $\beta$ -blockers outweighs the risk, at least after myocardial infarction.<sup>20,21</sup> In one study carvedilol decreased the new onset diabetes in patients with heart failure.<sup>22</sup>

#### Pulmonary

 $\beta$ -blockers can lead to a life-threatening increase in airway resistance and are contraindicated in patients with

asthma or bronchospastic chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In some patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, the potential benefit of using  $\beta$ -blockers may outweigh the risk of worsening pulmonary function. A history of asthma, however, should still be considered a contraindication to the use of any  $\beta$ -blocker, but chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is not a contraindication unless there is a significant reactive airway disease.<sup>23</sup>

#### **Central effects**

Central effects (fatigue, headache, sleep disturbances, insomnia and vivid dreams, depression) are less common with hydrophilic drugs.<sup>24</sup> In some patients the fatigue may be related to a decrease in blood flow to skeletal muscles; in other cases, it may be secondary to a central effect.

#### Sexual dysfunction

In some patients  $\beta\text{-blockers}$  may cause or aggravate impotence and loss of libido.

Abrupt discontinuation of  $\beta$ -blockers after chronic treatment can lead to *rebound symptoms* (i.e., hypertension, arrhythmias, exacerbated angina).<sup>25,26</sup> This increased risk is related with upregulation of  $\beta$ -adrenoceptors during chronic treatment.

#### Contraindications

The contraindications to initiate  $\beta$ -blocker treatment include asthma, symptomatic hypotension or bradycardia and severe decompensated heart failure (see later). Contraindications may be relative, in patients in whom the benefit of therapy may outweigh the risk of untoward effects. Chronic obstructive lung disease without bronchospastic activity and peripheral vascular disease are not considered as absolute contraindications and high risk patients may obtain a significant benefit from this therapy.<sup>27,28</sup> Patients with heart failure and bradycardia due to sick sinus node or second or third degree AV-block may benefit from pre-treatment with pacemaker in order to tolerate  $\beta$ -blockers, although this approach has, however, not been formally tested. Diabetes or intermittent lower limb claudication are not absolute contraindications for  $\beta$ -blockers use.<sup>21,29–31</sup>

#### **Drug interactions**

 $\beta$ -blockers may show pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions with other drugs.<sup>32</sup> Aluminium salts, cholestyramine, and colestipol may decrease the absorption of  $\beta$ -blockers. Alcohol, phenytoin, rifampicin, and phenobarbital, as well as smoking, induce hepatic biotransformation enzymes and decrease plasma concentrations and elimination half-lives of lipophilic  $\beta$ blockers. Cimetidine and hydralazine may increase the bioavailability of propranolol and metoprolol by reducing hepatic blood flow. Caution should be exercised in patients who are taking verapamil, diltiazem or various antiarrhythmic agents, which may depress sinus-node function or AV conduction. Additive effects on blood pressure between  $\beta$ -blockers antagonists and other antihypertensive agents are often observed. Indomethacin and other non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs antagonize the antihypertensive effects of  $\beta$ -blockers.

#### Dosing of β-blockers

Appropriate dosing of  $\beta$ -blockers varies with the clinical characteristics of the patient and the selected  $\beta$ -blocker. Table 2 shows the average daily oral doses in patients with hypertension and angina. Table 3 indicates the average recommended dose for intravenous use.

# Clinical efficacy and use

The benefit and clinical indications of  $\beta$ -blockers have been clearly defined in many cardiovascular conditions and agreement about their potential usefulness has been clearly established in many clinical settings.  $\beta$ -Blockers are safe to use when contraindications have been excluded and the appropriate dosage regimen is used. Abrupt discontinuation should be avoided if possible to prevent withdrawal effects. In case of doubt, specialist advice is recommended.

The benefit of  $\beta$ -blocker treatment has been well documented in the following conditions:

#### Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI)

During the acute phase of myocardial infarction, oral  $\beta$ -blockers are indicated in all patients without contraindications (class I, level of evidence A). Intravenous administration should be considered in patients with is-chaemic pain resistant to opiates, recurrent ischaemia

and for the control of hypertension, tachycardia and arrhythmias (Table 4). $^{33-35}$ 

β-blockers limit infarct size, reduce life-threatening arrhythmias, relieve pain and reduce mortality including sudden cardiac death.<sup>36-43</sup> Two large trials were particularly relevant to guide the use of  $\beta$ -blockers during the first hours of AMI. In the First International Study of Infarct Survival (ISIS-1) trial<sup>40</sup> patients within 12 h of evolution were randomised to receive i.v. atenolol followed by oral administration for 7 days, or conventional treatment, revealing a significant reduction in mortality at 7 days (3.7% vs. 4.6%; equivalent to 6 lives saved per 1000 treated). The benefit was mainly due to a reduction in heart rupture and was evident by the end of day 1 and sustained at 1 month and 1 year. In the other large study, the Metoprolol in Myocardial Infarction (MIAMI),<sup>41</sup> i.v. metoprolol followed by oral administration did not significantly reduce 15-day mortality as compared to placebo (4.3-4.9% (ns)). A meta-analysis of 28 early trials of i.v.  $\beta$ -blockers<sup>43</sup> revealed an absolute reduction of shortterm mortality from 4.3% to 3.7% (7 lives saved/1000 patients treated). This significant albeit small benefit was demonstrated before the reperfusion era. Similar findings were reported in a more recent meta-analysis of 52 trials, most of them including a small number of patients.44

Two trials of randomised i.v.  $\beta$ -blockade were conducted after the widespread use of reperfusion therapy in AMI,<sup>45,46</sup> but the number of events was too small to establish clear conclusions. In the second Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction (TIMI-II) trial,<sup>45</sup> thrombolysed patients were randomly assigned to early i.v. and oral metoprolol versus oral administration after day 6. Reinfarction and recurrent ischaemia were less frequent in the early  $\beta$ -blocker group and when treatment was ad-

Table 3 Intravenous dosing of β-blockers Drug Loading dose Maintenance dose Atenolol 5 + 5 mgOral, 50-100 mg/day Esmolol 0.5 mg/kg over 1-5 min 0.05-0.3 mg/kg/min I abetalol 20 mg in 2 min 2-10 mg/min Oral, 25-100 mg/12 h Metoprolol 2.5-5 mg i.v. bolus over 2 min; up to three doses 0.15 mg/kg Propranolol 0.10-0.20 mg/kg/min oral, 80-240 mg/day

<b>Table 4</b> Use of $\beta$ -blockers in AMI: guid	delines
--	---------

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
i.v. administration			
For relief of ischaemic pain	I	В	33, 34
To control hypertension, sinus tachycardia	I	В	33
Primary prevention of sudden cardiac death	I	В	35
Sustained ventricular tachycardia	I	С	33
Supraventricular tachyarrhythmias	I	С	33, 34
To limit infarct size	lla	А	33
All patients without contraindications	llb	А	33
Oral administration			
All patients without contraindications	1	А	33, 34

ministered within 2 h of symptom onset, there was a reduction of the composite endpoint of death or reinfarction. Data from the US National Registry of Myocardial Infarction  $2^{47}$  showed that immediate  $\beta$ -blocker administration in patients with AMI treated with t-PA reduces the occurrence of intracranial haemorrhage, although this benefit is small (0.7% and 1.0%; 3 patients/ 1000 treated). However, a post-hoc analysis of the first Global utilization of streptokinase and t-PA for occluded coronary arteries (GUSTO-I) trial and a systematic review of the available experience do not support the routine, early, *intravenous* use of  $\beta$ -blockers, <sup>33,44,48</sup> at least when thrombolytic treatment or primary percutaneous intervention is performed. New data from the PAMI (Primary Angioplasty in AMI) Stent-PAMI, Air-PAMI and CADILLAC (Controlled Abciximab and Device Investigation to Lower Late Angioplasty Complications) trials seems to demonstrate a reduction in mortality when  $\beta$ -blockers are used before primary percutaneous interventions.<sup>49–51</sup>

# Secondary prevention after myocardial infarction

Oral  $\beta$ -blockers are recommended for long-term use (indefinitely) in all patients who recover from AMI and do not present contraindications (class I, level of evidence A) (Table 5).<sup>33-35,52-58</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers are underused for this indication.<sup>59-60</sup>

Several large, long-term trials involving more than 35,000 survivors of myocardial infarction have demonstrated that the use of  $\beta$ -blockers in patients recovering from an episode of AMI improves survival by 20-25% through a reduction of cardiac mortality, sudden cardiac death and reinfarction. 43,44,49,61-66 Positive results have been found in trials comparing propranolol, metoprolol, timolol, acebutolol and carvedilol with placebo; conversely, no benefit was demonstrated in trials with alprenolol, atenolol, oxprenolol or xamoterol.44 A metaanalysis of 82 randomised trials (31 with long-term follow-up) provides strong evidence for the long-term use of  $\beta$ -blockers to reduce morbidity and mortality after acute MI even if aspirin, fibrinolytics or angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I) were co-administered.<sup>44</sup> An annual reduction of 1.2 deaths in 100 patients treated with  $\beta$ -blockers after myocardial infarction was observed; that is, about 84 patients will require treatment for 1 year to avoid one death.<sup>44</sup> Similarly, the annual reduction for reinfarction was 0.9 events in 100 treated patients; equivalent to the need to

treat 107 patients for 1 year to avoid one non-fatal reinfarction. In the retrospective analysis of the Cooperative Cardiovascular Project, including over 200,000 patients with myocardial infarction,  $\beta$ -blocker use was associated with a reduction in mortality, independent of age, race, presence of pulmonary disease, diabetes, blood pressure, ejection fraction, heart rate, renal function and treatment received during hospitalisation including myocardial revascularisation.<sup>21</sup>

In the Beta-blocker Heart Attack Trial (BHAT)<sup>61</sup> patients were randomised 5-21 days after AMI to receive propranolol or placebo. Mortality after a mean follow-up of 2 years was reduced by 25% (7% vs. 9.5%) (25 lives saved/1000 treated). In the Norwegian trial,<sup>62</sup> patients were randomly assigned 7-28 days after AMI to receive timolol or placebo; mortality was reduced from 9.8% to 7.2%, (26 lives/1000 treated) over a follow-up of 25 months. Sudden cardiac death and reinfarction were also significantly reduced. Interestingly, the beneficial influence of timolol on survival was sustained for at least 6 years.<sup>63</sup> In the study of Hjalmarson et al.,<sup>64</sup> metoprolol given first intravenously and then orally, mortality at 90 days was reduced by 26%. In the Boissel et al. trial Acebutolol et Prévention Secondarie de l'Infartus (APSI) trial,<sup>65</sup> including high risk patients 2–22 days after AMI, there was also a significant 48% reduction in mortality associated with the  $\beta$ -blocker treatment. In the Carvedilol Post Infarct Survival Control in Left Ventricular Dysfunction (CAPRICORN) trial including patients 2-21 days after AMI with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction and receiving ACE-I, all-cause mortality was lower in the carvedilol group than in the placebo group (12% vs. 15%).<sup>66</sup> The significant mortality reductions in heart failure observed with  $\beta$ -blockers and the result of the CAPRICORN trial further support the use of these agents in high risk patients with impaired ventricular function or failure after infarction and demonstrate that the benefit of  $\beta$ -blockers is observed also in patients receiving treatment according to current standards, including reperfusion therapy and ACE-I.

Although the benefit of  $\beta$ -blockers is observed in a broad population after infarction,<sup>21,30,67</sup> the benefit of long-term therapy is greatest in high-risk patients (i.e., those with evidence of large or anterior infarction) and there is continued debate about whether low-risk subjects (young, revascularised patients without previous infarction, residual ischaemia or ventricular arrhythmias and normal ventricular function) should be treated with  $\beta$ -blockers because their long-term prognosis is favourable. Chronic stable ischaemic heart disease

#### Table 5 Use of β-blockers in secondary prevention after infarction: guidelines

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
All patients without contraindications, indefinitely	L	А	33, 34, 52–57
To improve survival	1	А	33, 52–53
To prevent reinfarction	1	А	33, 52–53
Primary prevention of sudden cardiac death	I	Α	35
To prevent/treat late ventricular arrhythmias	lla	В	33, 35

patients and patients with atherosclerosis (carotid plaque) may benefit from a combined treatment with statins and  $\beta$ -blockers.<sup>68</sup> Treatment with  $\beta$ -blockers in diabetic patients seems to be more effective than in non-diabetics and the risk of complications is negligible.<sup>69</sup> Other subgroups at high risk, include late ventricular arrhythmias and post infarction ischaemia, Q wave and non-O wave infarctions and elderly patients also benefit from  $\beta$ -blockers.<sup>21,67</sup> Although relative contraindications once may have been thought to preclude the use of  $\beta$ -blockers in some patients, new evidence suggests that the benefits of  $\beta$ -blockers in reducing reinfarction and mortality may actually outweigh its risks, even in patients with (1) insulin dependent diabetes mellitus; (2) chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; (3) severe peripheral vascular disease; (4) PR interval up to 0.24 s; and (5) moderate left ventricular failure.<sup>21</sup> It is also emphasized that the use of  $\beta\text{-blockers}$  in such patients requires careful monitoring of the patient to be certain that adverse events do not occur.<sup>34</sup>

# Non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndromes

Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes (ACS) without ST-segment elevation should be treated with  $\beta$ -blockers as soon as possible, to control ischaemia and prevent AMI/reinfarction (class I, level of evidence B).<sup>65–67</sup> After the acute phase, all patients should receive  $\beta$ -blockers during long term for secondary prevention (class I, level of evidence A) (Table 6).<sup>70,71</sup>

There are few randomised studies with  $\beta$ -blockers in patients with unstable angina and non-Q wave myocardial infarction,<sup>73–75</sup> and the new non-ST- segment elevation ACS terminology makes the analysis of possible effect even more difficult. Henceforth, the recommendations are based on small studies in unstable angina as well as in the evidence in acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and stable patients with ischaemia and previous myocardial infarction. In fact, there are few studies in patients with unstable angina comparing  $\beta$ -blockers with placebo A meta-analysis suggested that  $\beta$ -blocker treatment was associated with a 13% relative reduction in risk of progression to AMI.76 Although no significant effect on mortality has been demonstrated in unstable angina in these relatively small trials, larger randomised trials of  $\beta$ -blockers in patients with acute or recent MI have shown a significant effect on mortality.<sup>43,44</sup> In addition, a retrospective analysis from the Cooperative Cardiovascular Project<sup>21</sup> indicates that the relative risk of death was lower in patients with non-Q wave myocardial infarction receiving  $\beta$ -blockers. Pooled data from 2,894 patients with acute coronary syndromes included in five randomised, controlled trials of abciximab during coronary intervention showed a reduction of 30 day and 60 day mortality associated with the use of  $\beta$ -blockers.<sup>77</sup> There is no evidence that any specific β-blocking agent is more effective in producing beneficial effects in unstable angina and oral therapy should be aimed to achieving a target heart rate between 50 and 60 beats per minute. The intravenous route should be preferred in patients at high risk (class II, level of evidence B).<sup>70,71</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers can increase coronary artery tone and are contraindicated in vasospastic angina without obstructive lesions.<sup>78</sup>

# Chronic, stable ischaemic heart disease

All patients with chronic, stable ischaemic heart disease should receive long-term treatment with  $\beta$ -blockers to control ischaemia, prevent infarction and improve survival. This is considered as a class I recommendation, level of evidence A in patients with previous myocardial infarction and class I, levels of evidence A, B and C (to control ischaemia, prevent infarction and improve survival, respectively) in the absence of a previous history of infarction (Table 7).<sup>33,34,52,53,57,72,79</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers should

**Table 6** Use of  $\beta$ -blockers in non-ST-segment elevation ACS: guidelines

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
Early benefit, reduction of ischaemia	I	В	70–72
Early benefit, prevention MI	I	В	70, 71
Long-term secondary prevention	I.	В	70, 71

Table 7	Use of $\beta$ -blockers in chronic,	stable ischaemic heart disease: guidelines
---------	--------------------------------------	--

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
Previous infarction			
To improve survival	I	А	33–35, 52, 53
To reduce reinfarction	I	А	33, 72
To prevent/control ischaemia	I	А	33–35, 52, 53
No previous infarction			
To improve survival	I	С	33–35, 52, 53
To reduce reinfarction	I	В	33, 79
To prevent/control ischaemia	I	А	33, 52, 53

be considered as the first choice in patients with chronic angina or ischaemia, and hypertension, previous infarction or poor ventricular function.<sup>53,57,58,79</sup> They appear to be underused for this indication.<sup>80</sup>

 $\beta$ -blockers are highly effective to control exerciseinduced angina, improve exercise capacity,  $^{81-87}$  and to reduce or suppress both symptomatic and asymptomatic ischaemic episodes.  $^{85,88-91}$  No clear clinical differences have been demonstrated between different  $\beta$ -blockers. Also, no clinical relevant differences were found when comparing  $\beta$ -blockers with calcium channel blockers for the control of ischaemia.  $^{92-95}$  Combination therapy with nitrates and  $\beta$ -blockers may be more effective than nitrates or  $\beta$ -blockers alone.  $^{96}$   $\beta$ -blockers may also be combined with dihydropyridines,  $^{97-101}$  but the combination with verapamil and diltiazem increases the risk of bradycardia or AV block.

If possible,  $\beta$ -blockers (and other anti-ischaemic drugs) should be withheld for four half-lives (usually about 48 h) when a stress test is planned for the diagnosis and risk stratification of patients with suspected coronary artery disease.<sup>102</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers should be withdrawn gradually to avoid withdrawal effects.<sup>26,103</sup>

The effect on prognosis in patients with stable angina has not been specifically studied in large trials, and most of the information comes from studies in the pre-thrombolytic era, when myocardial revascularisation was more restricted. A history of angina has, however, been present in about 1/3 of patients recruited in post infarction studies with  $\beta$ -blockers. The  $\beta$ -blockers pooling project<sup>67</sup> reported a highly significant reduction in mortality in this subgroup, and it seems reasonable to assume that  $\beta$ -blockers have the potential to prevent death, especially sudden cardiac death, and myocardial infarction even when there has been no prior infarction.<sup>53,57,79</sup>

The effects of  $\beta$ -blockers in patients with stable angina without prior MI or hypertension have been investigated in some randomised controlled trials. In the Total Ischaemic Burden European Trial (TIBET)<sup>104</sup>, no difference was found between atenolol and nifedipine, and in the Angina Prognosis Study in Stockholm (APSIS)<sup>105</sup> the clinical outcome was similar in the groups treated with metoprolol and verapamil. In the Atenolol Silent Ischaemia Study (ASIST),<sup>91</sup> in patients with mild angina, atenolol decreased ischaemic episodes at 6 weeks as compared with placebo and after 1 year there was an improvement in the cardiovascular combined outcomes.

In the Total Ischaemic Burden Bisoprolol Study (TIBBS)<sup>106</sup> bisoprolol was more effective than nifedipine in reducing the number and duration of ischaemic episodes in patients with stable angina. In the International Multicenter Angina Exercise (IMAGE) trial,<sup>107</sup> metoprolol was more effective than nifedipine in controling exercise induced ischaemia.

#### Heart failure

All patients with stable, mild, moderate and severe chronic heart failure from ischaemic or non-ischaemic cardiomyopathies and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction, in NYHA class II–IV, should be treated with  $\beta$ -blockers, unless there is a contraindication (class I, level of evidence A).<sup>55,108</sup> In patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction, with or without symptomatic heart failure following an AMI, long-term  $\beta$ -blockade is recommended in addition to ACE inhibition to reduce mortality (class I, level of evidence A).<sup>55,108</sup> Finally,  $\beta$ -blockers are also recommended in patients with chronic heart failure and preserved left ventricular function (class IIa, level of evidence C) <sup>108</sup> (Table 8).  $\beta$ -blockers are underused in patients with heart failure.<sup>109</sup>

The evidence of clinical benefit on  $\beta$ -blockers in patients with chronic heart failure with systolic left ventricular dysfunction was demonstrated in a number of small studies and in several, large, prospective, randomised, placebo controlled trials, including a total of over 15,000 patients.<sup>110–125</sup> Placebo-controlled mortality trials with carvedilol,<sup>66,116,119,124,125</sup> bisoprolol<sup>121</sup> and metoprolol<sup>122,123</sup> have been associated with a long-term reduction in total mortality, cardiovascular mortality, sudden cardiac death and death due to progression of heart failure in patients in functional class II-IV. In these studies, β-blocking therapy also reduced hospitalisations (all, cardiovascular and heart failure-related), improved the functional class and led to less worsening of heart failure than placebo. This beneficial effect has been consistently observed in subgroups of different age, gender, functional class, left ventricular ejection fraction and ischaemic or non-ischaemic aetiology, diabetics and non-diabetics. Black patients may be an exception, since in the BEST trial this ethnic group lacked the benefit from  $\beta$ -blocker therapy in heart failure.<sup>126</sup> In smaller, controlled studies  $\beta$ -blockade has been shown to improve

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
All stable patients, with symptomatic heart failure and reduced LVEF, functional class II–IV (to prolong survival)	I	А	55, 108
LVSD without symptoms after AMI	I	А	55, 108
LVSD without symptoms, no previous MI	I	В	55
Chronic HF with preserved systolic function (to reduce heart rate)	lla	С	108
Acute, compensated heart failure after AMI	lla	В	135
Patient stable after acutely decompensated chronic heart failure	I	А	135

AMI: Acute Myocardial Infarction; LVEF: Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction; LVSD: Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction.

ventricular function.<sup>115–127</sup> Exercise capacity may also improve<sup>114</sup> as well as symptoms and quality of life,<sup>17</sup> but these effects usually are marginal and have not been consistently demonstrated in all trials comparing  $\beta$ -blockers with placebo.<sup>128</sup>

In the second Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study (CIBIS-2)<sup>121</sup> symptomatic patients in NYHA class III or IV, with left-ventricular ejection fraction of 35% or less, receiving standard therapy with diuretics and ACE-in-hibitors, were randomly assigned to receive bisoprolol or placebo during a mean follow of 1.3 years. The study was stopped early because bisoprolol showed a significant mortality benefit (11.8% vs. 17.3%) (55 lives saved/1000 treated; Number Needed to Treat (NNT) for 1.3 year to save 1 life = 18). There were significantly fewer sudden cardiac deaths among patients on bisoprolol than in those on placebo (3.6% vs. 6.3%). Treatment effects were independent of the severity or cause of heart failure.

In the Metoprolol Randomised Intervention Trial  $(MERIT-HF)^{122}$  patients with chronic heart failure in NYHA functional class II–IV and ejection fraction  $\leq$ 40% and stabilised with optimum standard therapy, were randomly assigned metoprolol CR/XL or placebo. This study was also stopped early on the recommendation of the independent safety committee after a mean follow-up of 1 year. All-cause mortality was lower in the metoprolol group than in the placebo group (7.2%, per patient-year of follow-up vs. 11.0%) (38 lives saved/1000 treated; number needed to treat (NNT) for 1 year to save 1 life = 28). There was also a 41% reduction in sudden cardiac death and 49% reduction in deaths from worsening heart failure.

In the Carvedilol Prospective Randomised Cumulative Survival (COPERNICUS) study,<sup>124</sup> patients who had symptoms of heart failure at rest or on minimal exertion, clinically euvolemic, and with an ejection fraction of <25% were randomly assigned to placebo or carvedilol for a mean period of 10.4 months. The study also terminated prematurely after observing a significant reduction in mortality: the cumulative risk for death at 1 year was 18.5% in the placebo group and 11.4% in the carvedilol group (71 lives saved/1000 treated; number needed to treat for 10.4 months to save 1 life (NNT) =18). As in the previous studies, there was a reduction in hospitalisations and sudden cardiac death. In a post hoc analysis from CIBIS II and MERIT-HF including high risk patients with ejection fraction <25% and NYHA class III and IV similar findings were observed. 121,129

In the CAPRICORN trial<sup>66</sup> patients with left-ventricular ejection fraction of <40% early after an episode of AMI were randomly assigned to carvedilol or placebo. After a mean follow-up of 1.3 years, all-cause mortality alone was lower in the  $\beta$ -blocker group (12% vs. 15%), although no differences were observed in rehospitalisation rate.

In the Beta-blocker Evaluation of Survival (BEST) Trial<sup>130</sup> patients with chronic heart failure and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction were assigned to bucindolol or placebo. The study was stopped prematurely because of lack of differences in total mortality after 2 years of follow-up (33% vs. 30% in the placebo and bucindolol groups, respectively; p = 0.16). Nevertheless, the risk of the secondary end-point of death from cardiovascular causes was lower in the bucindolol group (HR, 0.86; 0.74–0.99), as well as rehospitalisation secondary to worsening heart failure. In a subgroup analysis, there was a survival benefit in non-black patients.

Overall, the NNT for approximately 1 year with a  $\beta$ -blocker in mainly NYHA class II/III (mild-moderate) CHF is 28 to prevent 1 death and 16 to prevent 1 death or hospitalisation (based on MERIT-HF) and in moderate to severe CHF (mainly class III/IV) these numbers are 18 and 13, respectively (based on COPERNICUS).

Although a reduction in mortality and hospitalisation has been demonstrated with several  $\beta$ -blockers in chronic heart failure, a class-effect has not been established. No benefit on survival was observed with bucindolol (BEST),<sup>130</sup> although bucindolol was associated with a reduction in cardiovascular mortality and myocardial infarction.<sup>131</sup> A direct comparison of two different  $\beta$ blockers (metoprolol vs. carvedilol) has been assessed in the Carvedilol Or Metoprolol European Trial (COMET).<sup>132</sup> In this study patients with chronic heart failure and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction were treated with carvedilol (targed 25 mg bid) or metoprolol tartrate (targed 50 mg bid). After a mean follow-up of 58 months all cause mortality was lower in the carvedilol group (34% vs. 40%) (HR 0.83; CI 0.74–0.93), equivalent to an NNT to save one life = 59; and this finding was consistent through predefined groups. No differences in re-hospitalisation were observed between groups. The results of this study suggest that carvedilol is superior to metoprolol to extend life in heart failure patients. However, in this trial the formulation of metoprolol was different from the one used in the MERIT-HF trial (tartrate vs. slow release succinate) and the target dose was lower (50 mg/12 h vs. 100 mg/12 h, equivalent to 130 mg/day of tartrate). In any case, the COMET trial illustrates that selection of a  $\beta$ blocker and the dose used may have a significant impact on the outcome of patients with heart failure. Accordingly only bisoprolol, metoprolol in the formulation and dose used in MERIT-HF and carvedilol are recommended for the treatment of patients with heart failure.

Further data are needed to establish the effects of  $\beta$ -blocking agents in certain demographic groups, such as elderly subjects (>75 years), certain racial subsets and patients with atrial fibrillation. In SENIORS the effect of  $\beta$ -blockade (nevibolol) in the elderly patient with heart failure is investigated. In another study, CIBIS-3, bisoprolol will be used first, followed by the administration of ACE-inhibitors.

As  $\beta$ -blocker action may be biphasic with long-term improvement, possibly preceded by initial worsening,  $\beta$ -blockers should be initiated under careful control. The initial dose should be small and increased slowly and progressively to the target dose used in the large clinical trials. Uptitration should be adapted to the individual response.  $\beta$ -blockers may reduce blood pressure and heart rate excessively, may temporarily induce myocardial depression and precipitate heart failure. In addition,  $\beta$ -blockers may initiate or exacerbate asthma and induce peripheral vasoconstriction. Table 9 indicates the recommended procedure for the use of  $\beta$ -blockers in clinical **Table 9** Practical guidance on using  $\beta$ -adrenergic blockers in heart failure (modified from Ref. 133)

#### Who should receive $\beta$ -blocker therapy

- All patients with chronic, stable heart failure
- Without contraindications (symptomatic hypotension or bradicardia, asthma)

#### What to promise

Treatment is primarily prophylactic against death and new hospitalisations for cardiovascular reasons. Some patients will experience improvement of symptoms.

#### When to start

- No physical evidence of fluid retention (use diuretics accordingly)
- Start ACE-I first if not contraindicated
- In stable patients, in the hospital or in outpatient clinics
- NYHA class IV/severe CHF patients should be referred for specialist advice
- Review treatment. Avoid verapamil, diltiazem, antiarrhythmics, non-steroidal anti-inflamatory drugs

#### Beta-blocker

• Bisoprolol, carvedilol or metoprolol

#### Dose

- Start with a low dose
- Increase dose slowly. Double dose at not less than 2 weekly intervals
- Aim for target dose (see above) or, if not tolerated, the highest tolerated dose

	Starting dose mg	Target dose mg
Bisoprolol	1.25 once daily	10 once daily
Carvedilol	3.125 twice daily	25–50 twice daily
Metoprolol CR/XL	12.5–25 once daily	200 once daily

#### Monitoring

- Monitor for evidence of heart failure symptoms, fluid retention, hypotension and bradycardia
- Instruct patients to weigh themselves daily and to increase their diuretic dose if weight increases

#### Problem solving

- Reduce/discontinue β-blocker only if other actions were ineffective to control symptoms/secondary effects
- Always consider the reintroduction and/or uptitration of the  $\beta$ -blocker when the patient becomes stable
- Seek specialist advice if in doubt.

Symptomatic hypotension (dizziness, light headedness and/or confusion)

- Reconsider need for nitrates, calcium channel blockers and other vasodilators
- If no signs/symptoms of congestion consider reducing diuretic dose

Worsening symptoms/signs (increasing dyspnoea, fatigue, oedema, weight gain)

- Double dose of diuretic or/and ACE-I.
- Temporarily reduce the dose of β-blockers if increasing diuretic dose does not work
- Review patient in 1-2 weeks; if not improved seek specialist advice
- If serious deterioration halve dose of β-blocker
- Stop β-blocker (rarely necessary; seek specialist advice)

#### Bradycardia

- ECG to exclude heart block
- Consider pacemaker support if severe bradycardia or AV block or sick sinus node early after starting  $\beta$ -blockers
- Review need, reduce or discontinue other heart rate slowing drugs, e.g., digoxin, amiodarone, diltiazem
- Reduce dose of  $\beta$ -blocker. Discontinuation rarely necessary
- Severe decompensated heart failure, pulmonary oedema, shock
- Admit patient to hospital
- Discontinue β-blocker if inotropic support is needed or symptomatic hypotension/bradycardia is observed
- If inotropic support is needed, levosimendan may be preferred

CHF: Congestive Heart Failure; NYHC: New York Heart Association.

practice and lists the contraindications. Detailed practical guidance on the use of  $\beta\text{-blockers}$  in heart failure can be found elsewhere.  $^{133}$ 

Heart failure and preserved systolic function

There is a paucity of data regarding the possible benefit of  $\beta$ -blockers in patients with heart failure and preserved systolic left ventricular function. Accordingly, the rec-

ommended use of  $\beta$ -blockers in these patients is empirical, based mainly on the possible benefit of reducing heart rate and improving myocardial ischaemia.

#### Acute heart failure

There are no randomised clinical trials with  $\beta$ -blockers in acute heart failure targeted to improve the acute condition. In the Gothenburg study i.v. metoprolol or

placebo was initiated early after an AMI and followed by oral therapy for three months. Patients with new symptoms of heart failure were less frequently found in the metoprolol group, and in patients with signs of pulmonary congestion with basal rales and/or i.v. furosemide, metoprolol therapy reduced mortality and morbidity.<sup>134</sup> In the COPERNICUS trial,  $\beta$ -blocker therapy started early after acute decompensation of chronic heart failure was associated with a long-term reduction in mortality.<sup>124</sup> In the CAPRICORN trial patients with heart failure or left ventricular dysfunction randomised early after AMI also received benefit from β-blocker therapy.<sup>66</sup> As recommended in the ESC acute heart failure guidelines.<sup>135</sup> Patients with acute overt heart failure including more than basal pulmonary rales,  $\beta$ -blockers should be used cautiously. In these patients, if ongoing ischaemia and tachycardia are present, intravenous metoprolol can be considered. (class IIb, level of evidence C). However, in patients with AMI who stabilise after acute heart failure,  $\beta$ -blockers should be initiated early (class IIa, level of evidence B). In patients with chronic heart failure  $\beta$ -blockers should be initiated when the patient has stabilised after the acute episode (usually after 4 days) (class I, level of evidence A). The oral initial dose of bisoprolol, carvedilol or metoprolol should be small and increased slowly and progressively to the target dose used in the large clinical trials. Uptitration should be adapted to individual response. Patients on  $\beta$ -blockers admitted due to worsening heart failure, should be continued on this therapy in general unless inotropic support is needed but dose could be reduced if signs of excessive dosages are suspected (low heart rate and hypotension).

# Arrhythmias (Table 10)

# Sinus tachycardia

Sinus tachycardia is not a primary disorder and treatment should be directed to the underlying cause. In selected individuals  $\beta$ -blockers can be used to slow heart rate<sup>136,137</sup> (class I, level of evidence C) (e.g., if a fast heart rate produces symptoms) and are especially indicated in situations of anxiety, after myocardial infarction, in patients with heart failure, hyperthyroidism and hyperdynamic  $\beta$ -adrenergic state.  $^{137,138}$  In patients with pheochromocytoma,  $\beta$ -blockers are also effective to control sinus tachycardia, but if given alone hypertensive crisis can occur secondary to unopposed  $\alpha$ -receptor mediated constriction.  $^{139}$ 

## Supraventricular tachycardias

β-blockers are effective for suppressing atrial premature beats and controlling heart rate and conversion of focal atrial tachycardia, as well as preventing its recurrence, in many instances the result of increased sympathetic tone<sup>140</sup> such as after surgery (class I, level of evidence C) (Table 10).<sup>137</sup> On the contrary, *multifocal atrial tachy*cardia is frequently associated with severe obstructive lung disease, in which case  $\beta$ -blockers are ineffective and contraindicated. AV nodal reciprocating tachycardias, the most common form of paroxismal supraventricular tachycardia, also responds well to i.v. administration of propranolol, metoprolol, atenolol, sotalol or timolol, with a reduction in heart rate, conversion to sinus rhythm or facilitating the success of vagal manoeuvres<sup>137,141–145</sup> (class I, level of evidence C).  $\beta$ -blockers are also useful for the prevention of recurrent episodes. Oral

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
Supraventricular arrhythmias			
Sinus tachycardia	1	С	137
Focal atrial tachycardia, for cardioversion	lla	c	137
Focal atrial tachycardia, for prevention of recurrence	1	В	137
Atrioventricular nodal reciprocating tachycardia	I	С	137
Focal junctional tachycardia	lla	С	137
Non-paroxysmal junctional tachycardia	lla	С	137
WPW with symptomatic arrhythmias	lla	С	137
<i>Atrial flutter</i> Rate control of atrial flutter, poorly tolerated Rate control of atrial flutter, well tolerated	lla I	C C	137 137
Atrial fibrillation (ESC/AHA/ACC) Prevention (post AMI, HF, HTA, post surgery, post conversion to sinus rhythm) Chronic control of heart rate Acute control of heart rate Conversion to sinus rhythm Combination with digoxin, for heart rate control Acute control of HR in heart failure	l I Ila Ilb	A B A A C	136 136 136 136 136 136
Ventricular arrhythmias Control of arrythmias early after AMI (i.v.) Control of arrythmias late after AMI Prevention of sudden cardiac death in heart failure and after MI	   	A A A	33 33, 35, 52, 56, 57 137

administration of  $\beta$ -blockers is very effective to prevent paroxysmal tachycardias precipitated by emotion or exercise.<sup>146</sup> Oral propranolol, atenolol, nadolol, and sotalol were found to be effective in the long term prophylactic treatment of patients with paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardias<sup>145</sup> (class I, level of evidence C).<sup>137</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers are also recommended for the treatment of other forms of supraventricular tachycardias, including *focal junctional tachycardia* and *non-paroxysmal junctional tachycardia*<sup>137</sup> (Table 10).

#### Tachycardias in WPW syndrome

β-blockers may be effective in some patients with supraventricular arrhythmias in the presence of WPW, if the accessory pathway is incapable of rapid anterograde conduction as demonstrated in an electrophysiological studies.<sup>137,145</sup> However, β-blockers may cause very serious adverse events. β-blockers, as well as digitalis and calcium channel blockers, do not block the accessory pathway and may even enhance conduction, resulting in a very rapid ventricular response which may lead to severe hypotension or cardiac arrest.<sup>136,147–149</sup> For this reasons, β-blockers are contraindicated in arrhythmias associated with WPW syndrome. β-blockers are also contraindicated in patients with sick sinus or bradycardia/tachycardia syndrome, as sinus arrest with syncope may occur.<sup>145</sup>

## Atrial flutter

 $\beta$ -blockers are not effective for conversion of atrial flutter to sinus rhythm but may be effective for ventricular rate control, for this reason they are indicated in stable patients (class I, level of evidence C).<sup>137</sup>

# Atrial fibrillation

 $\beta$ -blockers may be effective to prevent episodes of Atrial Fibrillation (AF), to control heart rate, to revert atrial fibrillation to sinus rhythm and to maintain sinus rhythm after it is restored (Table 10).<sup>136</sup>

*Prevention.* The incidence of atrial fibrillation is lower in patients receiving  $\beta$ -blockers. This effect has been observed in randomised studies in patients with heart failure, during secondary prevention after acute myocardial infarction, in hypertension and after elective non-cardiac surgery.<sup>136</sup>

Control of heart rate. Propranolol, atenolol, metoprolol, or esmolol may be given i.v. to acutely control the rate of ventricular response to AF in specific settings, especially in states of high adrenergic tone (e.g., postoperatively), but i.v. administration in heart failure is not recommended.  $\beta$ -blockers have also proved to be effective in patients with AF complicating thyrotoxicosis, AMI, chronic stable coronary artery disease<sup>150,151</sup> and during pregnancy.<sup>152</sup> For acute control of heart rate, intravenous esmolol is the recommended agent.<sup>136,153</sup>

For long-term use,  $\beta$ -blockade is a safe therapy to control heart rate in AF patients and antagonises the effects of increased sympathetic tone. In seven of 12

comparisons with placebo,  $\beta$ -blockers were effective in controlling resting heart rate. The effect was drug specific, with sotalol, nadolol and atenolol being the most efficacious.<sup>150</sup> Atenolol provided better control of exercise-induced tachycardia than digoxin alone.<sup>154</sup> Combinations of several agents may often be required to achieve adequate rate control, but care should be taken to avoid excessive slowing. In general, the combination of digoxin and  $\beta$ -blockers appears to be more effective than either digoxin or  $\beta$ -blocker alone and better than the combination of digoxin and calcium channel blockers.<sup>155–158</sup>

Conversion to sinus rhythm. There are few randomised studies exploring the efficacy of  $\beta$ -blockers to revert AF to sinus rhythm or to maintain sinus rhythm. One randomised, open-label, crossover study showed that atenolol was as effective as sotalol and better than placebo at suppressing episodes of AF, reducing their duration and associated symptoms.<sup>150</sup> In AF after non-cardiac surgery, intravenous esmolol produced a more rapid conversion to sinus rhythm than did intravenous diltiazem,<sup>151</sup>, but other antiarrhythmic drugs are preferred for cardioversion of AF to sinus rhythm.<sup>136</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers may also reduce subacute recurrences after conversion to sinus rhythm,<sup>151</sup> bisoprolol being as effective as sotalol<sup>159</sup> and carvedilol<sup>160</sup> to maintain sinus rhythm after AF.

# Ventricular arrhythmias

 $\beta$ -blockers are effective in the control of ventricular arrhythmias related to sympathetic activation, including stress-induced arrhythmias, AMI, perioperative and heart failure, including the prevention of sudden cardiac death (class I, level of evidence A)<sup>33,35,52,56,57</sup> (Table 10). Most  $\beta$ -blockers have proved effective to reduce the number of ventricular premature beats. In sustained ventricular tachycardia,  $\beta$ -blockers including propanolol, sotalol, metoprolol and oral atenolol have been effective to suppress the tachycardia, but the experience is limited and there is a lack of controlled studies. Success of  $\beta$ -blocker to treat VF is anecdotal.<sup>161</sup> On the contrary,  $\beta$ -blockers have proven to be very efficacious to prevent arrhythmias leading to sudden cardiac death in different conditions, including acute and chronic myocardial ischaemia, heart failure and cardiomyopathies.

# Prevention of sudden cardiac death

There is clear evidence demonstrating that the benefit derived from  $\beta$ -blocker treatment in part is the consequence of a reduction in sudden cardiac death (SCD). Accordingly,  $\beta$ -blockers are clearly indicated in the primary and secondary prevention of SCD in different clinical settings and guidelines have been established<sup>33,35,162,163</sup> (Table 11). However, it should be stressed that for secondary prevention of sudden cardiac death and in particular in the presence of severe left ventricular dysfunction, the use of  $\beta$ -blockers does not

Disease/setting	Indication	Class	Level	Ref.
AMI	Primary prevention	I	А	33
Post-MI	Primary prevention, in presence of HF or LV dysfunction	I	А	35, 163
Post-MI	Primary prevention, during and post-MI	I	А	35, 163
Post-MI	Resuscitated VT/VF, spontaneous sustained VT	lla	С	33, 35, 163
Heart failure	Primary or secondary prevention	I	А	35
Dilated cardiomyopathy	Primary or secondary prevention	1	В	35, 163
Myocardial bridging	Primary prevention	lla	С	35
Long QT syndrome	Primary prevention – symptomatic	1	В	35
Long QT syndrome	Secondary prevention $-\beta$ -blockers+ICD	I	С	35
Long QT syndrome	Primary prevention – asymptomatic	lla	С	35
Catecholaminergic VT	Primary or secondary prevention	lla	С	35
RV cardiomyopathy	Primary prevention	IIb	С	35
Patients with implantable defibrillators	Secondary prevention	lla	С	35, 163

Table 11 Use of  $\beta$ -blockers in the prevention of sudden cardiac death: guidelines

HF: Heart Failure; LV: Left Ventricle; MI: Myocardial Infarction; RV: Right Ventricle; VT: Ventricular Tachycardia; BP: Blood Pressure.

preclude the identification and appropriate treatment of ischaemia and the use of implantable defibrillators.<sup>35,163</sup>

#### Acute myocardial infarction

The use of  $\beta$ -blockers in AMI has been already discussed. For the prevention of VF, i.v.  $\beta$ -blockers are indicated in patients with ventricular arrythmias<sup>33</sup> (class I, level of evidence A) (Table 11). SCD secondary to VF is very frequent after an acute coronary occlusion.<sup>164–167</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers increase the threshold for VF during acute ischaemia and a decrease in VF was demonstrated in some placebo controlled trials with metoprolol, atenolol and propranolol very early after onset of symptoms.<sup>39,168,169</sup> In a randomised study including 735 patients within 4 h after the onset of chest pain, treated with intravenous propranolol followed by oral administration, VF occurred in two patients in the  $\beta$ -blocker group and in 14 of the control group (p < 0.06).<sup>39</sup> Also, i.v. metoprolol in patients with AMI significantly reduced the number of VF episodes.<sup>39</sup> However, in other large studies, including the ISIS-2 and MIAMI<sup>40,41</sup> no significant decrease in the incidence of VF was noted. Besides, in the thrombolytic era, there is a lack of controlled studies exploring the effect of early  $\beta$ -blocker administration on the incidence of VF, and the benefit of early intravenous administration of  $\beta$ -blockers to prevent VF is questionable in patients treated with reperfusion therapy.<sup>33</sup>

After acute myocardial infarction, the efficacy of  $\beta$ -blockers is related to a reduction in all-cause mortality and sudden cardiac death and their use is recommended in all patients for the primary prevention of sudden cardiac death (class I, level of evidence A)<sup>33,35,163</sup> (Table 11). A recent analysis of 31  $\beta$ -blockers trials<sup>170</sup> showed that 13 trials reported data on reduction of SCD, which was reduced from 51% to 43% in patients treated with  $\beta$ -blockers vs. the untreated group. In the CAPRICORN trial in post MI patients with left ventricular dysfunction, there was a trend toward SCD reduction in the carvedilol group.<sup>66</sup>

#### Heart failure

Patients with a history of congestive heart failure <sup>67</sup> or depressed left ventricular function<sup>171</sup> show the greatest

benefit from  $\beta$ -blockers in mortality reduction, including SCD and are indicated in all patients for the prevention of SCD (Class I, level of evidence A)<sup>35</sup> (Table 11). A consistent contribution to the improved outcome by these drugs is related to a substantial reduction (between 40% and 55%) in SCD rates.<sup>115,122,172</sup> The recent introduction of new therapies, such as thrombolytics, ACE-Inhibitors, aldosterone receptor blockers as well as concomitant revascularisation or aspirin does not appear to limit the independent benefit on clinical outcome provided by  $\beta$ -blockers, as suggested by the evidence of risk reductions between 30% and 50%.<sup>21</sup>

#### Dilated cardiomyopathy

There are no specific studies demonstrating the benefit of  $\beta$ -blockers for the prevention of sudden cardiac death in dilated cardiomyopathy, but the reduction in mortality was similar in patients with ischemic or non-ischaemic heart failure<sup>115</sup>; accordingly,  $\beta$ -blockers are recommended for the prevention of sudden cardiac death in this population (class I, level of evidence B)<sup>35,163</sup> (Table 11).

#### Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy

Sudden cardiac death secondary to ventricular arrhythmias is frequent in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, especially during exercise and in the presence of left ventricular outflow obstruction.<sup>163</sup> Though  $\beta$ -blockers may improve symptoms, the currently available data do not support the routine use of  $\beta$ -blockers in the prevention of sudden cardiac death in these patients.<sup>21,35,173–176</sup>

#### Mitral valve prolapse

Mitral valve prolapse is usually benign; its link with SCD has been suggested but never conclusively demonstrated.<sup>35</sup> No prospective studies have ever been conducted with  $\beta$ -blockers or antiarrhythmic drugs in this condition. Accordingly, no data are available to define prophylactic interventions that may reduce the risk of SCD. However,  $\beta$ -blocking agents are generally considered as first choice therapy in symptomatic patients. Yet, the routine or selective use of  $\beta$ -blockers to prevent sudden cardiac death in patients with mitral valve prolapse is not recommended.  $^{\rm 35}$ 

#### Myocardial bridging

Although it is considered as a benign condition, patients with myocardial bridging may present with ischaemia and in some cases ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death.<sup>177</sup> Symptoms usually improve with  $\beta$ -blockers.<sup>178</sup> This information is based on a limited number of small observational studies (class IIa, level of evidence C).<sup>35</sup>

# Long QT syndrome (LQTS)

Prolongation of the QT interval not secondary to ischaemia or drugs is associated with life-threatening ventricular arrhythmias, sometimes exercise or stress related.<sup>179,180</sup> β-Blockers are usually considered indicated but there is a lack of prospective, placebo-controlled studies. In the largest of the retrospective analyses, conducted in 233 LQTS patients, all symptomatic for syncope or cardiac arrest, mortality 15 years after the first syncope was 9% for the patients treated by antiadrenergic therapy ( $\beta$ -blockers and/or left cardiac sympathetic denervation) and close to 60% in the group not treated or treated with miscellaneous therapies.<sup>181</sup> These data support the benefit of  $\beta$ -blockers, however, they do not provide total protection and especially for the patients with a history of cardiac arrest the risk of SCD remains unacceptably high. In symptomatic patients the use of  $\beta$ -blockers is considered a class I with a level of evidence B, in asymptomatic patients a class IIa, level of evidence C<sup>35</sup> (Table 11).

# Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia

This clinical entity is characterised by adrenergically induced polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in the absence of structural cardiac abnormalities and a familial history of syncope and SCD occurs in approximately one third of the cases.<sup>182,183</sup> The arrhythmias are reproducible during exercise stress test or during isoproterenol infusion.<sup>183</sup> At the present time  $\beta$ -blockers seem to be the only therapy that may be effective.<sup>183</sup> Retrospective analysis of the few published cases, shows SCD in 10.5% and 48% of patients with and without  $\beta$ -blocker therapy, respectively.<sup>183</sup> Although this finding is not conclusive given the lack of controlled studies,  $\beta$ -blockers are recommended for the primary and secondary prevention of SCD (class IIa, level of evidence C).<sup>35</sup>

# SCD in the normal heart

Idiopathic VF occurs in up to 8% of victims of SCD.<sup>184</sup> According to the UCARE European registry, prevention of recurrence with antiarrhythmic agents and  $\beta\text{-blockers}$  failed.  $^{185}$ 

The Brugada syndrome<sup>186</sup> is an arrhythmogenic disorder associated with high risk of SCD caused by rapid polymorphic ventricular arrhythmias mainly occurring at rest or during sleep in individuals with a structurally normal heart. The occurrence of cardiac arrest at 3 year follow-up may be as high as 30%. The disease is characterised by transient right bundle branch block and ST-segment elevation in leads V1–V3. The efficacy of  $\beta$ blockers in this condition has not been investigated. Accordingly,  $\beta$ -blockers are not currently recommended in this condition.<sup>35</sup>

# Other situations

 $\beta$ -blockers are also indicated in patients with pacemakers and implantable defibrillators for secondary prevention (class IIb and IIa, respectively, level of evidence C).<sup>35</sup>

# Hypertension

β-Blockers are indicated in the treatment of hypertension (class I, level of evidence A)<sup>46,52,53</sup> (Table 12). Intravenous  $\beta$ -blockers can be used to treat hypertensive emergencies. Current guidelines strongly recommend reduction of blood pressure to different levels according to the risk profile (the higher the risk the lower the ideal blood pressure) 52,56-58,187-189, and in most patients the appropriate control requires the use of two or more antihypertensive medications. Although the primary objective in hypertensive patients is the control of blood pressure levels, pharmacological treatment should also reduce morbidity and mortality and the selection of a specific drug should be based on the patient profile.<sup>58</sup> Thus,  $\beta$ -blockers may be considered as the first choice therapy, alone or in combination, in patients with previous myocardial infarction, ischaemic heart disease, arrhythmias or heart failure, asymptomatic left ventricular dysfunction, diabetes or high risk of coronary disease, based on the efficacy of these drugs on these patient populations (class I, level of evidence A).<sup>52,56,57,188</sup>

In early studies, treatment of hypertension with  $\beta$ -blockers was associated with an improvement in long-term outcomes, including a reduction in mortality,  $^{190-192}$  stroke  $^{193-195}$  and heart failure.  $^{193}$  In the Swedish Trial in Old Patients with hypertension (STOP-Hypertension trial),  $^{190}$  all cause mortality and sudden cardiac death was lower in the  $\beta$ -blocker (metoprolol, pindolol or atenolol) than in the placebo group. In the MAPHY study  $^{192}$ , comparing metoprolol with thiazide, blood pressure reduction was similar in both groups, but

<b>Table 12</b> Use of $\beta$ -blockers in the treatment of hypertension: guideline	Table 12	Use of β-blockers	in the treatment of	hypertension: guidelines
--	----------	-------------------	---------------------	--------------------------

Class	Level	Ref.
I	А	52, 56, 57
I	А	52, 57, 188
	Class I I	ClassLevelIAIA

mortality was lower in the metoprolol group. This benefit of  $\beta$ -blockers compared with diuretics was not observed in other studies. In the Medical Research Council (MRC) trial<sup>191</sup> atenolol failed to reduce cardiovascular events as compared to placebo or diuretics in hypertensive patients without previous myocardial infarction, angina and heart failure. In the HAPPHY study,<sup>194</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers (metoprolol, atenolol or propranolol) did not improve the clinical outcome as compared with diuretics. In a meta-analysis<sup>193</sup>  $\beta$ -blockers were effective in preventing stroke and heart failure when compared with placebo but not with diuretics.

In more recent trials,  $\beta$ -blockers were equally efficacious to reduce blood pressure and cardiovascular risk when compared with calcium channel blockers<sup>196</sup> and ACE-inhibitors.<sup>196–199</sup> In a meta-analysis, including the UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) (atenolol vs. captopril), STOP-Hypertension-2 (diuretics or  $\beta$ -blockers vs. ACE-inhibitors vs. dihydropiridine calcium channel blockers), CAPP (diuretics or  $\beta$ -blockers vs. captopril) and NORDIL (thiazide or  $\beta$ -blocker vs. diltizem), ACE-inhibitors offered a similar cardiovascular protection as compared with diuretics or  $\beta$ -blockers and calcium channel blockers provided an extra 13% reduction in the risk of stroke but the risk of infarction was 19% higher than with  $\beta$ -blockers or diuretics.<sup>200</sup>

The Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension (LIFE) study compared the angiotensin II inhibitor losartan with atenolol in hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy but without myocardial infarction or stroke within the previous 6 months, angina pectoris requiring treatment with  $\beta$ -blockers and heart failure or left ventricular ejection fraction of  $\leq 40\%$ . Losartan was associated with a greater reduction in stroke as compared atenolol (5% vs. 6.7%) over a mean follow up of 8.4 years. Mortality and myocardial infarction was similar in both groups.<sup>201</sup>

# Aortic dissection

 $\beta$ -blockers are indicated to lower blood pressure in patients with suspected or diagnosed aortic dissection (class I, level of evidence C) (Table 13).<sup>202</sup>

 $\beta$ -blockers reduce blood pressure and pulse pressure (systolic/diastolic pressure difference), which reflect the

<b>Table 13</b> Use of $\beta$ -blocke	rs in aortio	c dissectior	: guidelines
Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
To lower blood pressure	I	С	202

force in the aortic wall. For this purpose  $\beta$ -blockers are considered the drug of choice in patients with aortic dissection although this therapeutic approach has not been tested in randomised clinical trials. Intravenous  $\beta$ -blockers (propranolol, metoprolol, atenolol, labetalol and esmolol) should be preferred to achieve rapid control of blood pressure and can be used under careful control of blood pressure, heart rate and end-organ perfusion. The recommended doses are indicated in Table 3 but have to be individually adjusted according to the obtained response.<sup>193,194,203</sup> While  $\beta$ -blocking agents are usually adequate in most patients, combination with intravenous sodium nitroprusside may be required for severe hypertension.

# Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy

Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy is a complex disease with a broad spectrum of manifestations and risk profile. Although  $\beta$ -blockers, including propranolol, atenolol, metoprolol, sotalol or nadolol have been successfully used to relieve symptoms, improve physical capacity, control heart rate, treat arrhythmias, treat heart failure and prevent sudden cardiac death in patients with and without evidence of left ventricular outflow obstruction, their use has not been clearly standardised.<sup>176</sup> Also, there is no proof that prophylactic drug therapy in asymptomatic patients to prevent or delay progression of congestive symptoms and improve prognosis.

# Prophylactic use in non-cardiac surgery

β-Blockers are indicated in high cardiac risk patients, with present or past history of ischaemia, arrhythmias or hypertension controlled by β-blockers and in patients with ischaemia in perioperative testing submitted to elective non-cardiac surgery (specially vascular surgery), to prevent ischaemic events and arrhythmias (class I, level of evidence A). Also, β-blockers are indicated for the treatment of perioperative hypertension, ischaemia and arrhythmias identified preoperatively and previously untreated (class IIa, level of evidence (B) (Table 14).<sup>54</sup> Perioperative β-blocker therapy in high risk patients is underutilized.<sup>205</sup>

In several studies, the preoperative administration of  $\beta$ -blockers was associated with better control of blood pressure^{206,207} and a reduction in perioperative ischaemia^{204,206-212} and arrhythmias.^{213,214} There is also evidence that patients with high risk for coronary heart disease have a better outcome if treated with  $\beta$ -blockers

#### Table 14 Use of β-blockers in non-cardiac surgery: guidelines

Setting/indication	Class	Level	Ref.
High cardiac risk (history of ischaemia, arrhythmias, hypertension, or stress induced ischaemia, to reduce ischaemic events and arrhythmias	I	А	54
Preoperative use to control ischaemia, hypertension, arrhythmias	I	А	54
Treatment of peroperative ischaemia, hypertension and arrhythmias	lla	В	54

during hospitalisation for non-cardiac surgery, including a reduction in mortality and cardiovascular complications during and up to 2 years after surgery.<sup>215,216</sup> In one small study, including 112 selected patients with risk factors for ischaemic heart disease and a positive dobutamine stress test, bisoprolol was compared with placebo administered before vascular surgery.<sup>216</sup> Cardiac mortality (3.4% vs. 17%) and non-fatal infarction (0% vs. 17%) were lower in the bisoprolol group. Boersma et al.<sup>217</sup> reanalysed the cohort of 1351 consecutive patients enrolled in this study. Patients receiving  $\beta$ -blockers had a lower risk of cardiac complications than those not receiving  $\beta$ -blockers. In another trial  $^{215,218}$  atenolol given before general surgery reduced the episodes of ischaemia during ECG monitoring and improved the outcome at six months follow-up as compared to placebo. Although these studies were small and do not provide definite answers, the results suggest an improvement in outcome, especially in high-risk patients.

#### Vasovagal syncope

In vasovagal syncope  $\beta$ -blockers have been thought to lessen the degree of mechanoreceptor activation associated with an abrupt fall in venous return and block the effects of elevated circulating adrenaline, but this effect could not be demonstrated in five long-term follow-up controlled clinical studies<sup>219–223</sup> and contradictory results have been reported in short term controlled clinical studies.<sup>224,225</sup> A rationale for use of  $\beta$ -blockers is lacking in other forms of neurally mediated syncope and they may be detrimental in dysautonomic syndromes.  $\beta$ -Blockers may enhance bradycardia in the carotid sinus syndrome and in all other cardio-inhibitory forms of neurally-mediated syncope. Therefore, at the moment there is no evidence to support the use of  $\beta$ -blocker in vasovagal syncope (level of evidence A).<sup>226</sup>

#### β-blockers during pregnancy

 $\beta$ -blockers have been used during pregnancy without evidence of teratogenic effects. Although there is limited experience,  $\beta$ -blockers are considered as indicated in pregnant women with hypertension, mitral stenosis with pulmonary hypertension, coartaction of the aorta, ischaemic heart disease, supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias, and can be continued during delivery.<sup>152,227,228</sup> Selective agents, without effect on uterine contraction are preferred.

# References

- Cruickshank JM, Prichard BNC. Beta-adrenoceptors. In: Cruickshank JM, Prichard BNC, editors. Beta-blockers in clinical practice. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1996. p. 9–86.
- Tamargo JL, Delpón E. Optimisation of β-blockers pharmacology. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 1990;16(Suppl. 5):S8–S10.
- Frishman WH, Lazar EJ, Gorodokin G. Pharmacokinetic optimisation of therapy with beta-adrenergic-blocking agents. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1991;20:311–8.
- 4. Frishman WH. Carvedilol. N Engl J Med 1998;339:1759-65.

- Benfield P, Sorkin EM. Esmolol. A preliminary review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic efficacy. *Drugs* 1987;33:392–412.
- Bristow MR. Pathophysiologic and pharmacologic rationale for clinical management of chronic hart failure with beta-blocking agents. Am J Cardiol 1993;71:12C-22C.
- 7. Bouzamondo A, Hulot JS, Sanchez P et al. Beta-blocker treatment in heart failure. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 2001;15:95–109.
- Waagstein F. Beta-blockers in congestive heart failure: the evolution of a new treatment concept-mechanism of action and clinical implications. J Clin Basic Cardiol 2002;5:215–23.
- Man in't Veld AJ, van der Meiracker A, Schalekamp MA. The effect of beta-adrenoceptor antagonists on total peripheral resistance. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 1986;8(Suppl. 4):549–60.
- Frishman WH. Multifactorial actions of beta-adrenergic-blocking drugs in ischemic heart disease: current concepts. *Circulation* 1983;67(Suppl. I):I-11-8.
- 11. Opie LH. Effect of beta-adrenergic blockade on biochemical and metabolic response to exercise. *Am J Cardiol* 1985;55:95D.
- Kukin ML, Kalman J, Charney R et al. Prospective, randomized comparison of effect of long-term treatment with metoprolol or carvedilol on symptoms, exercise, ejection fraction, and oxidative stress in heart failure. *Circulation* 1999;102:2646–51.
- Cleland JG, Dargie HJ. Arrhythmias, catecholamines and electrolytes. Am J Coll Cardiol 1988;62:55–9.
- 14. Shizukuda Y, Buttrick PM, Geenen D et al. Beta-adrenergic stimulation causes cardiocyte apoptosis: influence of tachycardia and hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol* 1998;**275**:961–8.
- Lowes BD, Gilbert EM, Abraham WT et al. Myocardial gene expression in dilated cardiomyopathy treated with beta-blocking agents. N Engl J Med 2002;346:1357–65.
- Hjalmarson Å, Elmfeldt D, Herlitz J et al. Effect on mortality of metoprolol in acute myocardial infarction. A double-blind randomised trial. *Lancet* 1981;ii:823–87.
- 17. Hjalmarson Å, Goldstein S, Fagerberg B et al. for the MERIT-HF Study Group: Effects of controlled-release metoprolol on total mortality, hospitalizations, and well-being in patients with heart failure. The metoprolol CR/XI randomized intervention trial in congestive heart failure (MERIT-HF). JAMA 2000;283:1293–302.
- Thadani U, Whitsett TL. Beta-adrenergic-blockers and intermittent claudication: time for reappraisal. Arch Int Med 1991;151: 1705-7.
- Radack K, Deck C. β-Adrenergic blocker therapy does not worsen intermitent claudication in subjects with peripheral arterial disease. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Arch Int Med* 1991;151:1769–76.
- Kjekshus J, Gilpin E, Gali G et al. Diabetic patients and beta blockers after acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 1990;11:43–50.
- Gottlieb S, McCarter R, Vogel R. Effect of beta-blockade on mortality among high risk patients after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1998;338:489–97.
- 22. Poole-Wilson P. COMET study. European Congress of Cardiology. Vienna, September 2003.
- Chen J, Radford MJ, Wang Y et al. Effectiveness of beta-blocker therapy after acute myocardial infarction in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:1950–6.
- Salem S, McDevitt D. Central effects of beta-adrenoceptor antagonists. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1983;33:52–7.
- Houston MC, Hodge R. Beta-adrenergic blocker withdrawal syndromes in hypertension and other cardiovascular diseases. *Am Heart* J 1988;116:515-23.
- Psaty BM, Koepsell TD, Wagner EH et al. The relative risk of incident coronary heart disease associated with recently stopping the use of beta-blockers. JAMA 1990;263:1653–7.
- Salpeter SR, Ormiston TM, Salpeter EE et al. Cardioselective betablockers for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a meta-analysis. *Respir Med* 2003;97:1094–101.
- Andrus MR, Holloway KP, Clark DB. Use of beta-blockers in patients with COPD. Ann Pharmacother 2004;38:142–5.
- Heintzen MP, Strauer BE. Peripheral vascular effects of betablockers. Eur Heart J 1994;15:2–7.
- Gheorghiade M, Goldstein S. Blockers in the post-myocardial infarction patient. *Circulation* 2002;106:394–8.

- 31. Haas SJ, Vos T, Gilbert RE et al. Are beta-blockers as efficacious in patients with diabetes mellitus as in patients without diabetes mellitus who have chronic heart failure? A meta-analysis of largescale clinical trials. Am Heart J 2003;146:848–53.
- Blaufarb I, Pfeifer TM, Frishman WH. Beta-blockers: drug interactions of clinical significance. *Drug Safety* 1995;13:359–70.
- 33. Van de Werf et al, for the task force of the management of acute myocardial infarction of the European Society of Cardiology. Management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J 2003;24:28–66.
- 34. Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on Management of Acute Myocardial Infarction) ACC/AHA. Guidelines for the management of patients with acute myocardial infarction American College of Cardiology. Available from: www.acc.org September 1999.
- Priori SG, Aliot E, Blomström-Lundqvist C et al. for the Task Force on Sudden Cardiac Death of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2001;22:1374–450.
- Waagstein F, Hjalmarson ÅC, Wasir HS. Apex cardiogram and systolic time intervals in acute myocardial infarction and effect of practolol. *Br Heart J* 1974:1109–21.
- Hjalmarson Å, Elmfeldt D, Herlitz J et al. Effect on mortality of metoprolol in acute myocardial infarction. A double-blind randomised trial. *Lancet* 1981;ii:823–7.
- Richterova A, Herlitz J, Holmberg S et al. The Göteborg Metoprolol Trial in Acute Myocardial Infarction. Effects on chest pain. Am J Cardiol 1984;53:32D-6.
- Norris RM, Brown MA, Clarke ED et al. Prevention of ventricular fibrillation during acute myocardial infarction by intravenous propranolol. *Lancet* 1984;2:883–6.
- ISIS-1 (First International Study of Infarct Survival) collaborative group. Randomised trial of intravenous atenolol among 16027 cases of suspected acute myocardial infarction: ISIS-1. Lancet 1986;II:57–66.
- The MIAMI Trial Research Group: Metoprolol in acute myocardial infarction (MIAMI). Am J Cardiol 1985;56:1G-57.
- Rydén L, Ariniego R, Arnman K et al. A double-blind trial of metoprolol in acute myocardial infarction. Effects on ventricular tachyarrhythmias. N Engl J Med 1983;308:614–8.
- Yusuf S, Lessem J, Pet J et al. Primary and secondary prevention of myocardial infarction and strokes. An update of randomly allocated controlled trials. J Hypertens 1993;11:(Suppl. 4):S61–S73.
- Freemantle N, Cleland J, Young P et al. Beta blockade after myocardial infarction. Systematic review and meta regression analysis. *BMJ* 1999:1730–7.
- Roberts R, Rogers WJ et al. Immediate versus deferred betablockade following thrombolytic therapy in patients with acute myocardial infarction (TIMI) IIB study. *Circulation* 1991;83:422–37.
- 46. Van de Werf F, Janssens L, Brzostek T et al. Short term effect of early intravenous treatment with beta-adrenergic blocking agents or a specific bradycardia agent in patients with acute myocardial infarction receiving thrombolytic therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;22:407–16.
- 47. Barron HV, Rundle AC, Gore JM et al. for the Participants in the national registry of myocardial infarction-2. Intracranial hemorrhage rates and effect of immediate beta-blocker use in patients with acute myocardial infarction treated with tissue plasminogen activator. Am J Cardiol 2000;85:294–8.
- 48. Pfisterer M, Cox JL, Granger CG et al. Atenolol use and clinical outcomes after thrombolysis for acute myocardial infarction. The GUSTO-I experience. Global utilization of streptokinase and TPA (alteplase) for occluded coronary arteries. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;32:634–40.
- Harjai KJ, Stone GW, Boura J et al. Effects of prior beta-blocker therapy on clinical outcomes after primary coronary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2003;91:655–60.
- 50. Halkin A, Nikolsky E, Aymong E et al. The survival benefit of periprocedural beta-blockers in patients with acute myocardial infarction undergoing primary angioplasty is determined by use of these drugs before admission. Am J Cardiol 2003;92(Suppl. L):228L.
- 51. Kernis SJ, Arguya KJ, Boura J et al. Does beta-bloquer therapy improbé clinical outcomes of acute myocardial infarction after successful primary angioplasty?. A pooled análisis from the primary angioplasti in myocardial infarction-2 (PAMI-2), No surgery on-site

(noSOS), stetn PAMI and Air PAMI trials. *Circulation* 2003;**108**(Suppl. IV):416-7.

- 52. Wood D, De Backer G, Faergeman O et al. for the Second Joint Task Force of European and other Societies<sup>†</sup> on Coronary Prevention: European Society of Cardiology, European Atherosclerosis Society, European Society of Hypertension, International Society of Behavioural Medicine, European Society of General Practice/Family Medicine, European Network. Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice. *Eur. Heart J.* 1998;19:1434–1503.
- Gibbons RJ, Chatterjeee K, Daley J et al. for the task force on practice guidelines, ACC/AHA/ACP-ASIM. Guidelines for the management of patients with chronic stable angina. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33:2092–197.
- 54. Eagle KA, Berger PB, Calkins H et al. for the task force. ACC/AHA guideline update on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery. A report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Circulation* 2002;105:1257–67.
- 55. Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Revise the 1995 Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure) ACC/AHA Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Heart Failure in the Adult 2002. Available from: http:// www.acc.org.
- Grundy SM, Ivor J, Benjamin IJ et al. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 1999;100:1134–46.
- 57. Smith SC, Blair SN, Bonow RO et al. AHA/ACC Guidelines for preventing heart attack and death in patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: 2001 update. A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology. *Circulation* 2001;104:1577–9.
- 58. De Backer G, Ambrosioni E, Borch-Johnsen K et al. for the Third Join Task Force of the European and other Societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *Eur Heart J* 2003;24:1601–10.
- Soumerai SB, McLaughlin TJ, Spiegelman D et al. Adverse outcomes of underuse of beta-blockers in elderly survivors of acute myocardial infarction. JAMA 1997;277:115–21.
- 60. A prospective survey of the characteristics, treatments and outcomes of patients with acute coronary syndromes in Europe and the Mediterranean basin: The Euro Heart Survey of Acute Coronary Syndromes (Euro Heart Survey ACS) Eur Heart J 2002;23:1190–201.
- 61. The beta-blocker heart attack study group. The beta-blocker heart attack trial. *JAMA* 1981;**246**:2073–4.
- Timolol-induced reduction in mortality and reinfarction in patients surviving acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1981;304:801-7.
- 63. Pedersen TR. Six-year follow-up of the Norwegian Multicenter Study on Timolol after Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Engl J Med* 1985;**313**:1055–8.
- 64. Hjalmarson A, Elmfeldt D, Herlitz J et al. Effect on mortality of metoprolol in acute myocardial infarction: a double-blind randomised trial. *Lancet* 1981;2:823–7.
- Boissel JP, Leizorovicz A, Picolet H et al. Secondary prevention after high-risk acute myocardial infarction with low dose acebutolol. Am J Cardiol 1990;66:251–60.
- 66. The CAPRICORN investigators. Effect of carvedilol on outcome after myocardial infarction in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. The CAPRICORN randomised trial. *Lancet* 2001;357:1385–90.
- 67. The beta-blocker pooling project research group. The beta-blocker pooling project. Subgroup findings from randomized trials in postin-farction patients. *Eur Heart J* 1988;9:8–16.
- 68. Hedblad J, Wikstrand L, Janzon H et al. Low-dose metoprolol CR/XL and fluvastatin slow progression of carotid intima-media thickness: Main results from the beta-blocker cholesterol-lowering asymptomatic plaque study (BCAPS). *Circulation* 2001;103:1721–6.
- Malmberg K. Prospective randomised study of intensive insulin treatment on long term survival after acute myocardial infarction in patients with diabetes mellitus. DIGAMI study group... Br Med J 1997;314:1512–5.
- 70. Bertrand ME, Simoons ML, Fox KAA et al. for the task force of the European Society of Cardiology. Management of acute coronary

syndromes: acute coronary syndromes without persistent ST-segment elevation. *Eur Heart J* 2000;**21**:1406–32.

- Bertrand ME, Simoons ML, Fox KAA et al. for the task force on the management of acute coronary syndromes of the European Society of Cardiology. Management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. *Eur Heart J* 2002;23:1809–40.
- 72. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines (committee on the management of patients with unstable angina) ACC/AHA guideline update for the management of patients with unstable angina and non ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. American Heart Association; 2002. Available from: www.americanheart.org.
- 73. Gottlieb S, Weisfeldt ML, Ouyang P et al. Effect of the addition of propranolol to therapy with nifedipine for unstable angina pectoris: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Circulation* 1986;3:331–7.
- 74. Telford A, Wilson C. Trial of heparin versus atenolol in prevention of myocardial infarction in intermediate coronary syndrome. *Lancet* 1981;1:1225–8.
- 75. Lubsen JTJ. Efficacy of nifedipine and metoprolol in the early treatment of unstable angina in the coronary care unit: findings from the Holland Interuniversity Nifedipine/metoprolol Trial (HINT). Am J Cardiol 1987;60:18A-25A.
- 76. Yusuf S, Witte J, Friedman L. Overview of results of randomized trials in heart disease: unstable angina, heart failure, primary prevention with aspirin and risk factor modifications. JAMA 1988;260:2259–63.
- 77. Ellis K, Tcheng JE, Sapp S et al. Mortality benefit of beta blockade in patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing coronary intervention: pooled results from the Epic, Epilog, Epistent, Capture and Rapport Trials. J Interv Cardiol 2003;16:299–305.
- Tilmant PY, Lablanche JM, Thieuleux FA et al. Detrimental effect of propranolol in patients with coronary arterial spasm countered by combination with diltiazem. *Am J Cardiol* 1983;52:230–3.
- Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology. Management of stable angina pectoris. Eur Heart J 1997;18:394–413.
- Wang TJ, Stafford RS. National patterns and predictors of betablocker use in patients with coronary artery disease. Arch Int Med 1998;158:1901-6.
- Rydén L. Efficacy of epanolol versus metoprolol in angina pectoris: report from a Swedish multicentre study of exercise tolerance. J Int Med 1992;231:7–11.
- Boberg J, Larsen FF, Pehrsson SK. The effects of beta blockade with (epanolol) and without (atenolol) intrinsic sympathomimetic activity in stable angina pectoris. The Visacor Study Group. *Clin Cardiol* 1992;15:591–5.
- Frishman WH, Heiman M, Soberman J et al. Comparison of celiprolol and propranolol in stable angina pectoris. Celiprolol International Angina Study Group. Am J Cardiol 1991;67:665–70.
- Cruickshank JM, Prichard BNC. Arrhythmias. In: Cruickshank JM, Prichard BNC, editors. Beta-blockers in clinical practice. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1996. p. 631–704.
- 85. Gruppo italiano per lo studio della sopravvivenza nell-infarto miocardico. GISSI-3: effects of lisinopril and transdermal glyceryl trinitrate singly and together on 6-week mortality and ventricular function after acute myocardial infarction. *Lancet* 1994;**343**:1115–22.
- 86. Prida XE, Hill JA, Feldman RL. Systemic and coronary hemodynamic effects of combined alpha- and beta-adrenergic blockade (labetalol) in normotensive patients with stable angina pectoris and positive exercise stress test responses. *Am J Cardiol* 1987;59:1084–8.
- Capone P, Mayol R. Celiprolol in the treatment of exercise induced angina pectoris. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1986;8(Suppl. 4):S135–7.
- Mulcahy D, Cunningham D, Crean P et al. Circadian variations of total ischemic burden and its alterations with anti-anginal agents. *Lancet* 1988;i:755–88.
- Hauf-Zachariou U, Blackwood RA, Gunawardena KA et al. Carvedilol versus verapamil in chronic stable angina: a multicentre trial. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1997;52:95–100.
- McLenachan JM, Findlay IN, Wilson JT et al. Twenty-four hour betablockade in stable angina pectoris: a study of atenolol and betaxolol. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 1992;20:311–5.
- Pepine CJ, Cohn PF, Deedwania PC et al. Effects of treatment on outcome in mildly symptomatic patients with ischemia during daily

life. The Atenolol Silent Ischemia Study (ASIST). *Circulation* 1994;**90**:762-8.

- 92. Wallace WA, Wellington KL, Chess MA et al. Comparison of nifedipine gastrointestinal therapeutic system and atenolol on antianginal efficacies and exercise hemodynamic responses in stable angina pectoris. *Am J Cardiol* 1994;**73**:23–8.
- 93. de Vries RJ, van den Heuvel AF, Lok DJ et al. Nifedipine gastrointestinal therapeutic system versus atenolol in stable angina pectoris. The Netherlands Working Group on Cardiovascular Research (WCN). Int J Cardiol 1996;57:143–50.
- 94. Fox KM, Mulcahy D, Findlay I et al. The total ischaemic burden european trial (TIBET). Effects of atenolol, nifedipine SR and their combination on the exercise test and the total ischaemic burden in 608 patients with stable angina. The TIBET Group. Eur Heart J 1996;17:96–103.
- 95. van de Ven LL, Vermeulen A, Tans JG et al. Which drug to choose for stable angina pectoris: a comparative study between bisoprolol and nitrates. *Int J Cardiol* 1995;47:217–23.
- Waysbort J, Meshulam N, Brunner D. Isosorbide-5-mononitrate and atenolol in the treatment of stable exertional angina. *Cardiology* 1991;**79**(Suppl. 2):19–26.
- 97. Kawanishi DT, Reid CL, Morrison EC et al. Response of angina and ischemia to long-term treatment in patients with chronic stable angina: a double-blind randomized individualized dosing trial of nifedipine, propranolol and their combination. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;19:409–17.
- Meyer TE, Adanms C, Commerford P. Comparison of the efficacy of atenolol and its combination with slow-release nifedipine in chronic stable angina. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 1993;7:909–13.
- 99. Steffensen R, Grande P, Pedersen F et al. Effects of atenolol and diltiazem on exercise tolerance and ambulatory ischaemia. *Int J Cardiol* 1993;40:143–53.
- 100. Parameshwar J, Keegan J, Mulcahy D et al. Atenolol or nicardipine alone is as efficacious in stable angina as their combination: a double blind randomised trial. *Int J Cardiol* 1993;40:135–41.
- 101. Foale RA. Atenolol versus the fixed combination of atenolol and nifedipine in stable angina pectoris. Eur Heart J 1993;14: 1369-74.
- 102. Rouleau JL, Talajic M, Sussex B et al. Myocardial infarction patients in the 1990s – their risk factors, stratification and survival in Canada: the Canadian assessment of myocardial infarction (CAMI) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27:1119–27.
- Egstrup K. Transient myocardial ischemia after abrupt withdrawal of antianginal therapy in chronic stable angina. Am J Cardiol 1988;61:1219–22.
- 104. Dargie HJ, Ford I, Fox KM. Total ischaemic burden european trial (TIBET). Effects of ischaemia and treatment with atenolol, nifedipine SR and their combination on outcome in patients with chronic stable angina. The TIBET Study Group. Eur Heart J 1996; 17: 104–12.
- 105. Rehnqvist N, Hjemdahl P, Billing E et al. Treatment of stable angina pectoris with calcium antagonists and beta-blockers. The APSIS study. angina prognosis study in stockholm. *Cardiologia* 1995; 40(Suppl. 1):301.
- 106. von Arnim T. Medical treatment to reduce total ischemic burden: total ischemic burden bisoprolol study (TIBBS), a multicenter trial comparing bisoprolol and nifedipine. The TIBBS Investigators. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;25:231–8.
- 107. Savonitto S, Ardissiono D, Egstrup K et al. Combination therapy with metoprolol and nifedipine versus monotherapy in patients with stable angina pectoris. Results of the international multicenter angina exercise (IMAGE) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27:311–6.
- 108. Remme WJ, Swedberg K et al for the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure, European Society of Cardiology. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J* 2001;22:1527–60.
- 109. Komajda M, Follath F, Swedberg K et al. for the study group of diagnosis of the working group on heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology. The Euro heart failure survey programme a survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe: Part 2: treatment, *Eur Heart J* 2003;24:464–74.
- Waagstein F, Hjalmarson ÅA, Varnauskas E et al. Effect of chronic beta-adrenergic receptor blockade in congestive cardiomyopathy. Br Heart J 1975;37:1022–36.

- Swedberg K, Hjalmarson A, Waagstein F et al. Beneficial effects of long-term beta-blockade in congestive cardiomyopathy. *Br Heart J* 1980;44:117–33.
- 112. Anderson J, Lutz JR, Gilbert EM et al. A randomized trial of low-dose betablockade therapy for idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol* 1985;55:471–5.
- 113. Engelmeier RS, O'Connell JB, Walsh R et al. Improvement in symptoms and exercise tolerance by metoprolol in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Circulation* 1985;72:536–46.
- Waagstein F, Bristow MR, Swedberg K, et al. for the MDC Trial Study Group. Beneficial effects of metoprolol in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Lancet* 1993;342:1441–6.
- 115. CIBIS investigators and committees. A randomized trial of betablockade in heart failure. The cardiac insufficiency bisoprolol study (CIBIS). *Circulation* 1994;90:1765–73.
- 116. Packer M, Bristow MR, Cohn JN et al. The effect of carvedilol on morbidity and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. U.S. Carvedilol Heart Failure Study Group. N Engl J Med 1996;334: 1349–55.
- 117. Colucci WS, Packer M, Bristow MR et al. for the US carvedilol heart failure study group. Carvedilol inhibits clinical progression in patients with mild symptoms of heart failure. *Circulation* 1996;94:2800–6.
- 118. Bristow MR, Gilbert EM, Abraham WT et al. for the MOCHA Investigators. Carvedilol produces dose-related improvements in left ventricular function and survival in subjects with chronic heart failure. *Circulation* 1996;**94**:2807–16.
- 119. Australia/New Zealand heart failure research collaborative group. Randomised, placebo-controlled trial of carvedilol in patients with congestive heart failure due to ischaemic heart disease. *Lancet* 1997;349:375–80.
- 120. Lechat P, Packer M, Chalon S et al. Clinical effects of betaadrenergic blockade in chronic heart failure: a meta-analysis of double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trials. *Circulation* 1998;98:1184–91.
- 121. CIBIS-II investigators and committees. The cardiac insufficiency bisoprolol Study II (CIBIS-II): a randomised trial. *Lancet* 1999;353: 9–13.
- 122. MERIT-HF study group. Effect of metoprolol CR/XL in chronic heart failure. Metoprolol CR/XL randomised intervention trial in congestive heart failure (MERIT-HF). *Lancet* 1999;**353**:2001–7.
- 123. The RESOLVD Investigators. Effects of metoprolol CR in patients with ischemic and dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 2000; 101:378–84.
- 124. Packer M, Coats AJS, Fowler MB et al. for the carvedilol prospective randomized cumulative survival study group. Effect of carvedilol on survival in severe chronic heart failure. *N Engl J Med* 2001;344:1651–8.
- 125. Doughty RN, Whalley GA, Gamble G et al. on behalf of the Australia-New Zealand Heart Failure Research Collaborative Group. Left ventricular remodeling with carvedilol in patients with congestive heart failure due to ischemic heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:1060–6.
- 126. Shekelle PG, Rich MW, Morton SC, PHD et al. Efficacy of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and beta-blockers in the management of left ventricular systolic dysfunction according to race, gender, and diabetic status. A meta-analysis of major clinical trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:1529–38.
- 127. Metra M, Giubbini R, Nodari S et al. Differential effects of betablockers in patients with heart failure: A prospective, randomized, double-blind comparison of the long-term effects of metoprolol versus carvedilol. *Circulation* 2000;**102**:546–51.
- Bolger AP, Al-Nasser F. Beta-blockers for chronic heart failure: surviving longer but feeling better. Int J Cardiol 2003;92:1–8.
- 129. Goldstein S, Fagerberg B, Hjalmarson Å et al. Metoprolol controlled release/extended release in patients with severe heart failure: analysis of the experience in the MERIT-HF study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;38:932-8.
- 130. The beta-blocker evaluation of survival trial investigators. A trial of the beta-blocker bucindolol in patients with advanced chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 2001;344:1659–67.
- 131. Torp-Pedersen C, Køber L, Ball S et al. The incomplete bucindolol evaluation in acute myocardial infarction trial (BEAT. *Eur J Heart Fail* 2002;4:495.

- 132. Poole-Wilson PA, Swedberg K, Cleland JCF et al. for the COMET investigators Comparison of carvedilol and metoprolol on clinical outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure in the carvedilol or metoprolol european trial (COMET): randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2003;362:7–13.
- 133. MacMurray J, Cohen-Solal A, Dietz R et al. Practical recommendations for the use of ACE inhibitors, beta-blockers and spironolactone in heart failure: putting guidelines into practice. *Eur J Heart Failure* 2001;3:495–502.
- 134. Herlitz J, Waagstein F, Lindqvist J, Swedberg K, Hjalmarson A. Effect of metoprolol on the prognosis for patients with suspected acute myocardial infarction and indirect signs of congestive heart failure (a subgroup analysis of the Goteborg Metoprolol Trial. Am J Cardiol 1997;80:40J-4J.
- 135. Nieminen M, Böhm M, Germany; Helmut Drexler H et al. for the European Society of Cardiology Task Force on Acute Heart Failure. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute heart failure. *Eur Heart J* (will be submitted to the European Heart Journal in 2004).
- 136. Fuster V, Rydén LE, Asinger RW et al. for the ACC/ AHA/ESC task force. ACC/AHA/ESC guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation. A report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology committee for practice guidelines and policy conferences (committee to develop guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation) developed in collaboration with the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Eur Heart J 2001;1852–923.
- 137. Blomström-Lundqvist C, Scheinman MM, Aliot EM et al. ACCC/AHA/ ESC Guidelines for he management of patients with supraventricular arrhythmias A report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology committee for practice guidelines (committee to develop guidelines for the management of patients with supraventricular arrhythmias) developed in collaboration with the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Eur Heart J 2003;24:1857–97.
- Turner P, Granville-Grosman KL, Smart JV. Effect of adrenergic receptor blockade on the tachycardia of toritoxicosis and anxiety state. *Lancet* 1965;2:1316–8.
- 139. Delarue NC, Morrow JD, Kerr JH, Colapinto RF. Phaeocromocytoma in the modern context. *Can J Surg* 1978;21:387–94.
- 140. Singh BN. Clinical aspects of the antiarrhythmic action of betareceptor blocking drugs. Part 1. Pattern of response of common arrhythmias. NZ Med J 1973;78:482–6.
- Rehnqvist N. Clinical experience with intravenous metoprolol in supraventricular tachyarrhythmias. A multicentre study. Ann Clin Res 1981;13(Suppl. 30):68–72.
- 142. Sweany AE, Moncloa F, Vickers FF et al. Antiarrhythmic effects of intravenous timolol in supraventricular arrhythmias. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1985;37:124–7.
- McBride JW, McCoy HG, Goldenberg IF. Supraventricular tachycardia treated with continuous infusion of propranolol. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1988;44:93–9.
- 144. Jordaens L, Gorgels A, Stroobandt R et al. Efficacy and safety of intravenous sotalol for the termination of paroximal supraventricular tachycardia. Am J Cardiol 1991;68:35–40.
- 145. Cruickshank JM, Prichard BNC. Arrhythmias. In: Cruickshank JM, Prichard BNC, editors. Beta-blockers in clinical practice. London: Churchill Livingstone; 1996. p. 705–63.
- 146. Gibson DG, Sowton E. The use of beta-adrenergic receptor blocking drugs in dysrrhythmias. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 1969;12:16–39.
- 147. Klein GJ, Bashore TM, Sellers T et al. Ventricular fibrillation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. N Engl J Med 1979;301:1080-5.
- 148. Dreifus LS, Haiat R, Watanabe Y et al. Ventricular fibrillation: a possible mechanism of sudden cardiac death in patients and Wolff–Parkinson–White syndrome. *Circulation* 1971;43:520–7.
- 149. Prystowsky EN, Benson Jr DW, Fuster V et al. Management of patients with atrial fibrillation: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Subcommittee on Electrocardiography and Electrophysiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation* 1996;93:1262–77.
- 150. Steeds RP, Birchall AS, Smith M et al. An open label, randomised, crossover study comparing sotalol and atenolol in the treatment of symptomatic paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. *Heart* 1999;82:170–5.

- 151. Kuhlkamp V, Schirdewan A, Stangl K et al. Use of metoprolol CR/XL to maintain sinus rhythm after conversion from persistent atrial fibrillation: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:139–46.
- 152. National High Blood Pressure Education Program. Report of the national high blood pressure education program working group on high blood pressure in pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2000;183: S1–S22.
- 153. Platia EV, Michelson EL, Porterfield JK et al. Esmolol versus verapamil in the acute treatment of atrial fibrillation or atrial flutter. *Am J Cardiol* 1989;63:925–9.
- 154. Lewis RV, McMurray J, McDevitt DG. Effects of atenolol, verapamil, and xamoterol on heart rate and exercise tolerance in digitalised patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1989;13:1–6.
- 155. Farshi R, Kistner D, Sarma JS et al. Ventricular rate control in chronic atrial fibrillation during daily activity and programmed exercise: a crossover open label of five drug regimens. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33:304–10.
- 156. Gulamhusein S, Ko P, Klein GJ. Ventricular fibrillation following verapamil in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am Heart J 1983;106:145–7.
- 157. Khand AU, Rankin AC, Martin W et al. Carvedilol alone or in combination with digoxin for the management of atrial fibrillation in patients with heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2003;**42**:1944–51.
- Balser JR, Martinez EA, Winters BD et al. Beta-adrenergic blockade accelerates conversion of postoperative supraventricular tachyarrhythmias. *Anesthesiology* 1998;89:1052–9.
- 159. Plewan A, Lehmann G, Ndrepepa G et al. Maintenance of sinus rhythm after electrical cardioversion of persistent atrial fibrillation; sotalol vs bisoprolol. *Eur Heart J* 2001;22:1504–10.
- 160. Katritsis D, Panagiotakos DB, Karvouni E et al. Comparison of effectiveness of carvedilol versus bisoprolol for maintenance of sinus rhythm after cardioversion of persistent atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2003;92:1116–9.
- Singh BN, Jewitt DE. Beta-adrenoreceptor blocking drugs in cardiac arrhythmias. Cardiovasc Drugs 1997;2:119–59.
- 162. Mosca L, Scott M, Grundy SM et al. Guide to preventive cardiology for women. AHA/ACC scientific statement. *Circulation* 1999;99:2480–4.
- 163. Priori SG, Aliot E, Blomström-Lundqvist C et al. Update of the guidelines on sudden cardiac death of the European Society of Cardiology. *Eur Heart J* 2003;24:13–5.
- 164. Meltzer LE, Kitchell JR. The development and current status of coronary care. En: Textbook of coronary care. Excerpta Medica (Amsterdam) 1972:3–25.
- 165. Milner PG, Platia EV, Reid PR et al. Ambulatory electrocardiographic recordings at the time of fatal cardiac arrest. Am J Cardiol 1985;56:588–92.
- 166. Marcus FI, Cobb LA, Edwards JE et al. Mechanism of death and prevalence of myocardial ischemic symptoms in the terminal event after acute myocardial infarction. *Am J Cardiol* 1988;61:8–15.
- 167. Farb A, Tang AL, Burke AP et al. Sudden coronary death. Frequency of active coronary lesions, inactive coronary lesions, and myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 1995;92:1701–9.
- 168. Rydén L, Ariniego R, Arnman K et al. A double blind trial of metoprolol in acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1983;308:614–8.
- 169. Rossi PR, Yusuf S, Ramsdale D et al. Reduction of ventricular arrhythmias by early intravenous atenolol in suspected acute myocardial infarction. *Br Med J* 1983;**286**:506–10.
- 170. Nuttal SL, Toescu V, Kendall MJ. Beta-blockade after myocardial infarction. *BMJ* 2000;**320**:581-8.
- 171. Held P. Effects of beta blockers on ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction:tolerability and survival effects. Am J Cardiol 1993;71:39C-44.
- 172. Kendall MJ, Lynch KP, Hjalmarson A et al. Beta-blockers and sudden cardiac death. *Ann Int Med* 1995;**123**:358–67.
- 173. Maron BJ. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Lancet 1997;350:127-33.
- 174. Spirito P, Seidman CE, McKenna WJ et al. The management of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 1997;**336**:775–85.
- 175. McKenna W, Deanfield J, Faruqui A et al. Prognosis in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: role of age and clinical, electrocardiographic and haemodynamic features. Am J Cardiol 1981;47:532-8.

- 176. Maron BJ, McKenna W, Danielson GK, et al for the American College of Cardiology/European Society of Cardiology clinical expert task force. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 2003 24:1965–91.
- 177. Desseigne P, Tabib A, Loire R. Myocardial bridging on the left anterior descending coronary artery and sudden cardiac death. Apropos of 19 cases with autopsy. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss 1991;84:511–6.
- 178. Schwarz ER, Klues HG, Vom DJ et al. Functional, angiographic and intracoronary Doppler flow characteristics in symptomatic patients with myocardial bridging: effect of short-term intravenous betablocker medication. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27:1637–45.
- 179. Schwartz PJ, Priori SG, Napolitano C. The long QT syndrome. In: Zipes DP, Jalife J, editors. Cardiac electrophysiology From cell to bedside. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2000. p. 597–615.
- 180. Moss AJ, Schwartz PJ, Crampton RS et al. The long QT syndrome. Prospective longitudinal study of 328 families. *Circulation* 1991;84:1136–44.
- 181. Schwartz PJ, Priori SG, Spazzolini C et al. Genotype phenotype correlation in the long-QT syndrome: gene specific triggers for lifethreatening arrhythmias. *Circulation (Online)* 2001;103:89–95.
- 182. Coumel P, Fidelle J, Lucet V et al. Catecholaminergic-induced severe ventricular arrhythmias with Adams-Stokes syndrome in children: report of four cases. Br Heart J 1978;40:28–37.
- Leenhardt A, Lucet V, Denjoy I et al. Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in children. A 7-year follow-up of 21 patients. *Circulation* 1995;91:1512–9.
- 184. Myerburg RJ, Kessler KM, Zaman L et al. Survivors of prehospital cardiac arrest. JAMA 1982;247:1485–90.
- Priori SG, Crotti L. Idiopathic ventricular fibrillation. Cardiac Electrophysiol Rev 1999;3:198–201.
- 186. Brugada P, Brugada J. Right bundle branch block, persistent STsegment elevation and sudden cardiac death: a distinct clinical and electrocardiographic syndrome. A multicenter report. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;20:1391–6.
- 187. Thakkar RB, Oparil S. What do international guidelines say about therapy. *Hypertension* 2001;**19**(Suppl. 3):S23-31.
- 188. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR et al. The seventh report of the Joint National Committee on prevention, detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood pressure. JAMA 2003;289:2560-72.
- Guidelines subcommittee. 1999 World Health Organization-international Society of Hypertension guidelines for the management of hypertension. J Hypertens 1999;17:151–8.
- Dahlöf B, Lindholm LH, Hansson L et al. Morbidity and mortality in the swidish trial in old patients with hypertension (STOP-Hypertension). *Lancet* 1991;338:1281–5.
- 191. Medical Research Council Working Party. MRC trial of treatment of mild hypertension: Principal results. Br Med J 1985;291:97–104.
- 192. Olsson G, Tuomilehto J, Berglund G et al. Primary prevention of sudden cardiovascular death in hypertensive patients. Mortality results from the MAPHY study. Am J Hypertens 1991;4:151–8.
- 193. Psaty BM, Smith NL, Siscovick DS et al. Health outcomes associated with antihypertensive therapies used as first-line agents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 1997;277:739–45.
- 194. Maphy and the two arms of Happhy. JAMA 1989;262:3272-4.
- 195. Goldstein LB, Adams R, Becker K et al. Primary prevention of ischemic stroke. A statement for healthcare professionals from the Stroke Council of the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2001;103:163–82.
- 196. Blood Pressure Lowering Treatment Trialists' Collaboration. Effects of ACE inhibitors, calcium antagonists, and other blood pressure lowering drugs: results of prospectively designed overviews of randomised trials. *Lancet* 2000;355:1955–64.
- 197. Hansson L, Lindholm LH, Niskanen L et al. for the Captopril Prevention Project (CAPPP) study group. Effect of angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibition compared with conventional therapy on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in hypertension: the Captopril Prevention Project (CAPPP) randomised trial. *Lancet* 1999;353:611-6.
- 198. Hansson L, Lindholm LH, Ekbom T et al. for the STOP-Hypertension-2 study group. Randomised trial of old and new antihypertensive drugs in elderl y patients: cardiovascular mortality and morbidity the Swedish Trial. *Lancet* 1999;354:1751–6.
- 199. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type-2 diabetes-UKPDS-38. *BMJ* 1998;317:703–13.

- 200. Staessen JA, Wang JG, Thijs L. Cardiovascular protection and blood pressure reduction. A meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2001;**358**:1305–15.
- 201. Dahlöf B, Devereux RB, Kjeldsen SE et al. for the LIFE study group. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the losartan intervention for endpoint reduction in hypertension study (LIFE):a randomised trial against atenolol. *Lancet* 2002;**359**:995–1003.
- 202. Erbel R, Alfonso F, Boileau C et al. for the task force of the European Society of Cardiology: Diagnosis and management of aortic dissection. Recommendations of the task force on aortic dissection, European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2001;22:1642–81.
- DeSanctis RW, Doroghazi RM, Austen WG et al. Aortic dissection. N Engl J Med 1987;317:1060–7.
- 204. Isselbacher EM. Diseases of the aorta. In: Braunwald E, Zipes DP, Libby P, editors. Heart disease. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 2001. p. 1422–56.
- 205. Siddiqui AK, Ahmed S, Delbeau H, Conner D, Mattana J. Lack of physician concordance with guidelines on the perioperative use of beta-blockers. Arch Int Med 2004;164:664–7.
- 206. Magnusson J, Thulin T, Werner O et al. Haemodynamic effects of pretreatment with metoprolol in hypertensive patients undergoing surgery. Br J Anaesth 1986;58:251–60.
- 207. Stone JG, Foex P, Sear JW et al. Risk of myocardial ischaemia during anaesthesia in treated and untreated hypertensive patients. Br J Anaesth 1988;61:675–9.
- 208. Stone JG, Foex P, Sear JW et al. Myocardial ischaemia in untreated hypertensive patients: effect of a single small oral dose of a betaadrenergic blocking agent. *Anesthesiology* 1988;68:495–500.
- 209. Pasternack PF, Grossi EA, Baumann FG et al. Beta-blockade to decrease silent myocardial ischaemia during peripheral vascular surgery. Am J Surg 1989;158:113–6.
- Pasternack PF, Imparato AM, Baumann FG et al. The hemodynamics of beta-blockade in patients undergoing abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. *Circulation* 1987;76(Suppl. 3):III-1-7.
- 211. Yeager RA, Moneta GL, Edwards JM et al. Reducing perioperative myocardial infarction following vascular surgery: the potential role of beta-blockade. *Arch Surg* 1995;130:869–72.
- 212. Raby KE, Brull SJ, Timimi F et al. The effect of heart rate control on myocardial ischemia among high-risk patients after vascular surgery. *Anesth Analg* 1999;88:477–82.
- 213. Jakobsen CJ, Bille S, Ahlburg P et al. Perioperative metoprolol reduces the frequency of atrial fibrillation after thoracotomy for lung resection. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 1997;11:746–51.
- Bayliff CD, Massel DR, Inculet RI et al. Propranolol for the prevention of postoperative arrhythmias in general thoracic surgery. *Ann Thorac* Surg 1999;67:182–6.
- 215. Mangano DT, Layug EL, Wallace A et al. Effect of atenolol on mortality and cardiovascular morbidity after noncardiac surgery. Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. Engl J Med 1996;335:1713–20.
- 216. Poldermans D, Boersma E, Bax JJ et al. for the Dutch Echocardiographic Cardiac Risk Evaluation Applying Stress Echocardiography

Study Group. The effect of bisoprolol on perioperative mortality and myocardial infarction in high-risk patients undergoing vascular surgery. *N Engl J Med* 1999;341:1789–94.

- 217. Boersma E, Poldermans D, Bax JJ et al. Predictors of cardiac events after major vascular surgery: role of clinical characteristics, dobutamine echocardiography, and beta-blocker therapy. *JAMA* 2001;285:1865–73.
- 218. Wallace A, Layug B, Tateo I et al. for the McSPI Research Group. Prophylactic atenolol reduces postoperative myocardial ischaemia. *Anesthesiology*. 1998;88:7–17.
- 219. Brignole M, Menozzi C et al. A controlled trial of acute and long-term medical therapy in tilt-induced neurally mediated syncope. *Am J Cardiol* 1992;**70**:339–42.
- 220. Sheldon R, Rose S, Flanagan P et al. Effects of beta blockers on the time to first syncope recurrence in patients after a positive isoproterenol tilt table test. *Am J Cardiol* 1996;**78**: 536–9.
- 221. Di Gerolamo E, Di Iorio C, Sabatini P et al. Effects of different treatments vs no treatment on neurocardiogenic syncope. *Cardiologia* 1998;43:833-7.
- 222. Flevari P, Livanis E, Theodorakis G et al. Neurocardiogenic syncope: prospective, randomized, cross-over evaluation of the effects of propranolol, nadolol and placebo on syncope recurrence and patients' well-being (Abstr.). *PACE* 2000;**23**:666.
- 223. Madrid A, Ortega I, Rebollo GJ et al. Lack of efficacy of atenolol for the prevention of neurally-mediated syncope in highly symptomatic population: a prospective double-blind, randomized and placebocontrolled study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:554–7.
- 224. Fitzpatrick AP, Ahmed R, Williams S et al. A randomized trial of medical therapy in malignant vasovagal syndrome or neurallymediated bradycardia/hypotension syndrome. *Eur J Cardiac Pacing Electrophysiol* 1991;1:191–202.
- 225. Mahanonda N, Bhuripanyo K, Kangkagate C et al. Randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of oral atenolol in patients with unexplained syncope and positive upright tilt table test results. *Am Heart J* 1995;130:1250–3.
- 226. Brignole M, Alboni P, Benditt D et al. for the Task Force on Syncope, European Society of Cardiology. Guidelines on management (diagnosis and treatment) of syncope. *Eur Heart J* 2001; 22:1256–306.
- 227. Oakley C, Child A, lung B et al. for the Task Force on the management of Cardiovascular diseases during pregnancy of the European Society of Cardiology. Expert consensus document on management of cardiovascular diseases during pregnancy. *Eur Heart J* 2003; 24:761–81.
- Bloomfield TH, Howkins DF. The effect of drugs on human fetus. In: Stechll, Ginsberg, editors. Scientific foundations of obstetric and gynecology. Oxford: Butterworth/Heinemann; 1991. p. 320–36.
- 229. Kubo T, Eduardo R, Azevedo et al. Lack of evidence for peripheral alpha-1 adrenoceptor blockade during long-term treatment of heart failure with carvedilol. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2001;**38**:1463–9.